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INDEPENDENT AUDITORS’ REPORT
TO THE SHAREHOLDERS OF BLOM BANK SAL

Adverse Opinion

We have audited the separate financial statements of Blom Bank SAL (the “Bank™), which comprise
the separate statement of financial position as at 31 December 2024, and the separate income statement,
separate statement of comprehensive income, separate statement of changes in equity and separate
statement of cash flows for the year then ended, and notes to the separate financial statements, including
material accounting policy information.

In our opinion, because of the significance of matters discussed in the “Basis Jor Adverse Opinion”
section of our report, the accompanying separate financial statements do not present fairly, in all
material respects, the separate financial position of the Bank as at 31 December 2024 and its separate
financial performance and its separate cash flows for the year then ended in accordance with IFRS
Accounting Standards as issued by the International Accounting Standards Board (IASB).

Basis for Adverse Opinion

1. As disclosed in Note 2.1 to the separate financial statements, the Bank did not apply the
requirements of IAS 29 — Financial Reporting in Hyperinflationary Economies (“IAS 29”) in the
separate financial statements from and for the years from which the Republic of Lebanon has been
designated as a hyperinflationary economy, nor did subsidiaries whose functional currencies are
hyperinflationary accounted for using the equity method, nor did the Bank consider its effects on
forecasts and discount rates used in accounting estimates. In addition, as disclosed in Note 20,
during 2024, one of the Bank’s subsidiaries determined the carrying amount of land and buildings
in Lebanon based on a valuation performed by an accredited external independent valuer in US
Dollars and then translated it to Lebanese Pounds at the Sayrafa rate of LBP 89,500 for the US
Dollar as at 31 December 2024. The gain from revaluation amounting to LL 1,250 billion was
recognized in other comprehensive income for the year ended 31 December 2024. In accordance
with IAS 29, the historical cost should be restated from the date of acquisition by applying the
general price index, and then compared to the appraised amount with the difference treated as
required by IAS 16 — Property, Plant and Equipment (“IAS 16”); and subsequently, the appraised
carrying amount should be restated from the date of the appraisal by applying the general price
index. In addition, due to the lack of information and visibility on the impact of the current
macroeconomic crisis in Lebanon, we were unable to conclude on the adequacy of the appraised
amount. Had the Bank applied the requirements of IAS 29 and considered its effects on accounting
estimates, many elements and disclosures in the separate financial statements, including
comparative financial information, would have been materially different. The effects on the separate
financial statements from this departure have not been determined. Our opinion for the year ended
31 December 2023 was modified for same reasons.
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INDEPENDENT AUDITORS’ REPORT
TO THE SHAREHOLDERS OF BLOM BANK SAL (continued)

Basis for Adverse Opinion (continued)

2. Asdisclosed in Note 1 to the separate financial statements, the Bank had used the official published
exchange rates for the translation of its monetary assets and liabilities denominated in foreign
currencies and all transactions in foreign currencies during 2021, 2022 and 2023, instead of using the
rates at which the future cash flows could have been settled as required by IAS 21 — The Effects of
Change in Foreign Exchange Rates, when several exchange rates are available. This caused us to
qualify our opinion on the financial statements relating to those years, as other exchange rates through
legal exchange mechanisms were available, depending on the source and nature of the operation or
balance, and which should have been used by the Bank to comply with the requirements of IAS 21.
As disclosed in Note 1 to the separate financial statements, from January 2024, the official published
exchange rate was set at LL 89,500 to the US Dollar which converged with the rates of the legal
exchange mechanism for the exchange of foreign currencies not subject to de-facto capital controls
throughout the period and up to date. With respect to foreign currencies subject to de-facto capital
controls, we were unable to conclude whether this exchange rate is that at which the future cash flows
could have been settled if those cash flows had occurred at the measurement date. In addition, the
Bank recorded the impact of the change in exchange rates used, in the separate statement of income
statement for the year ended 31 December 2024 under “Net gain from financial assets at fair value
through profit or loss” and in the separate statement of comprehensive income for the year ended 31
December 2024 under “Share of other comprehensive income of subsidiaries under equity method,
net of tax” and “Exchange differences on translation of foreign operations — branches”. The Bank did
not restate comparative amounts which is a departure from IAS 8 — Accounting Policies, Changes in
Accounting Estimates and Errors (“IAS 87). Furthermore, the Bank carries provisions for risks and
charges amounting to LL 10,803 billion as at 31 December 2024, recorded against the loss to be
incurred from the sale of foreign currencies subject to defacto capital control that occurred subsequent
to year end. As we were unable to satisfy ourselves on the appropriate exchange rate to be used on
foreign currencies subject to de-facto capital controls, we were unable to determine whether any
adjustments were necessary to many accounts and disclosures in the separate financial statements.
Also, had the Bank applied the requirements of IAS 21 and used the rate at which the future cashflows
could have been settled during 2021, 2022 and 2023, had the Bank recognized loss on exchange on
sale of foreign currencies at the occurrence date, and had the Bank applied the requirements of IAS
8, many accounts and disclosures in the separate financial statements, including comparative financial
information, would have been materially different. The effects on the separate financial statements
from the departure of IAS 21 and IAS 8 have not been determined.

3. Asat 3] December 2024, the Bank holds balances with the Central Bank of Lebanon amounting to
LL 1,132,674 billion (2023: LL 193,694 billion), Certificate of deposits under financial assets at
amortized cost totaling LL 34,048 billion (2023: LL 11,284 billion), a portfolio of loans amounting
to LL 2,269 billion (2023: LL 441 billion) and other balances with banks and other assets amounting
to LL 351 billion (2023: LL 511 billion), concentrated in Lebanon which represent 84% of the Bank’s
total assets as at 31 December 2024 (2023: 86%).

As disclosed in Note 1, the separate financial statements do not include adjustments required by IFRS
9 — Financial Instruments to the carrying amounts of the above assets and to many related accounts
and disclosures that would result from resolution of the uncertainties described in Note 1.

Furthermore, the Bank has engaged in several transactions involving modification of contractual cash
flows, renegotiations, exchanges and extinguishment of financial assets and financial liabilities. The
Bank has not applied the requirements of IFRS 9 and assessed whether these transactions should be
accounted for as modifications resulting in derecognition or no derecognition, nor is the Bank
calculating and accounting for the impact of such modifications, which constitutes a departure from
the requirements of IFRS 9. The effects of these departures on the carrying amount of these financial
instruments and related income statement accounts have not been determined. Our opinion for the
year ended 31 December 2023 was modified for same reasons above.
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INDEPENDENT AUDITORS’ REPORT
TO THE SHAREHOLDERS OF BLOM BANK SAL (continued)

Basis for Adverse Opinion (continued)
Also, as disclosed in Note 38, management did not produce the information about the fair value of
these assets and other financial instruments concentrated in Lebanon and these separate financial
statements consequently do not include the fair value disclosures required by IFRS 13 — Fair Value
Measurement.

Had such adjustments and disclosures been determined and made, many elements and related
disclosures in the accompanying separate financial statements for the years ended 31 December 2024
and 31 December 2023 would have been materially different. The effects of the resolution of these
uncertainties on the separate financial statements and disclosures have not been determined. Our
opinion for the year ended 31 December 2023 was modified for same reasons explained above.

In addition, the Bank holds equity instruments and funds in entities operating in Lebanon amounting
to LL 8,901 billion and LL 1,480 billion respectively as at 31 December 2024, held at fair value
through profit or loss (2023: LL 163 billion and LL 331 billion respectively). The fair value of these
instruments is measured based on a mix of observable and unobservable data holding a high level of
uncertainty due to lack of reliable market evidence in light of the uncertainties described in Note 1.
As such, it is not possible to determine the future effects that the economic crisis described in Note 1
would have on the carrying amounts of these assets. Consequently, we were unable to determine
whether any adjustments should have been recorded on these amounts. Our opinion for the year ended
31 December 2023 was modified for same reasons.

4. As at 31 December 2024, provision for retirement benefits obligation of employees is carried in the
separate statement of financial position at LL 2,636 billion (2023: LL 985 billion). The Bank did not
estimate the provision for retirement benefits obligations in accordance with IAS 19 - Employee
Benefits. Consequently, we were unable to determine whether any adjustments to these amounts, and
related income statements accounts were necessary. Our opinion for the year ended 31 December
2023 was also modified for the same reasons.

5. Asdisclosed in Note 1 to the separate financial statements, law 330 was enacted on 4 December 2024
and its application decisions were issued by the Ministry of Finance in Lebanon on 12 March 2025.
Because of the late issuance of the application decisions, management was unable to finalize its
assessment and is still assessing the tax impacts of the full application of law 330 at the date of our
audit report. Consequently, we were unable to determine whether any adjustments to the separate
financial statements as at 31 December 2024 and for the year then ended were necessary.

6. The events and conditions and practices that would not qualify as normal course of business in a non-
crisis environment described in Note 1 and the matters described in paragraphs 1, 2 and 3 above affect
the financial position, liquidity, solvency and profitability of the Bank, and expose the Bank to
increased litigation and regulatory risks. Significant uncertainty exists in relation to the outcome of
the litigations, claims and investigations raised against the Bank and the negative impact that they
may have on the Bank’s liquidity as disclosed in Notes 1 and 47. These events and conditions may
cast significant doubt on the Bank’s ability to continue as a going concern. We were unable to obtain
sufficient appropriate audit evidence about the Bank’s ability to continue as a going concern. Our
opinion for the year ended 31 December 2023 was modified for same reasons.
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INDEPENDENT AUDITORS’ REPORT
TO THE SHAREHOLDERS OF BLOM BANK SAL (continued)

Basis for Adverse Opinion (continued)

We conducted our audit in accordance with International Standards on Auditing (ISAs). Our
responsibilities under those standards are further described in the Auditors’ responsibilities for the audit
of the separate financial statements section of our report. We are independent of the Bank in accordance
with the International Ethics Standards Board for Accountants’ International Code of Ethics for
Professional Accountants (including International Independence Standards) (IESBA Code) together
with the ethical requirements that are relevant to our audit of the financial statements in Lebanon, and
we have fulfilled our other ethical responsibilities in accordance with these requirements and the IESBA
Code. We believe that the audit evidence we have obtained is sufficient and appropriate to provide a
basis for our adverse opinion.

Emphasis of Matter

We draw attention to Note 7 to the separate financial statements, which describes that during 2024, the
Bank used the multiplier factor in the sale of foreign currencies subject to de-facto capital controls to
customers which breaches the Central Bank of Lebanon Basic Circular 159. These transactions were
queried by the regulator, whereby the latter has instructed the Bank to discontinue entering into such
transactions going forward. No penalties or sanctions were imposed on the Bank as a result of these
transactions. We also draw attention to Note 1 to the separate financial statements which describes that
the Lebanese crisis which was set off during the last quarter of 2019 has resulted in several practices
and transactions for which there are no directly observable prices or a governing legal/regulatory
framework. Our opinion is not further modified with respect to this matter.

Key Audit Matters

Key audit matters are those matters that, in our professional judgment, were of most significance in our
audit of the separate financial statements for the year ended 31 December 2024. Except for the matters
described in the “Basis for Adverse Opinion” section of our report, we have determined that there are
no other key audit matters to communicate in our report.

Responsibilities of Management and Those Charged with Governance for the Separate Financial
Statements

Management is responsible for the preparation and fair presentation of the separate financial statements
in accordance with IFRS Accounting Standards, and for such internal control as management
determines is necessary to enable the preparation of separate financial statements that are free from
material misstatement, whether due to fraud or error.

In preparing the separate financial statements, management is responsible for assessing the Bank’s
ability to continue as a going concern, disclosing, as applicable, matters related to going concern and
using the going concern basis of accounting unless management either intends to liquidate the Bank or
to cease operations, or has no realistic alternative but to do so.

Those charged with governance are responsible for overseeing the Bank’s financial reporting process.

Auditors’ Responsibilities for the Audit of the Separate Financial Statements

Our objectives are to obtain reasonable-assurance about whether the separate financial statements as-a
whole are free from material misstatement, whether due to fraud or error, and to issue an auditors’ report
that includes our opinion. Reasonable assurance is a high level of assurance, but is not a guarantee that
an audit conducted in accordance with ISAs will always detect a material misstatement when it exists.
Misstatements can arise from fraud or error and are considered material if, individually or in the
aggregate, they could reasonably be expected to influence the economic decisions of users taken on the
basis of these separate financial statements.
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INDEPENDENT AUDITORS’ REPORT
TO THE SHAREHOLDERS OF BLOM BANK SAL (continued)

Auditors’ Responsibilities for the Audit of the Separate Financial Statements (continued)
As part of an audit in accordance with ISAs, we exercise professional judgement and maintain
professional skepticism throughout the audit. We also:

e Identify and assess the risks of material misstatement of the separate financial statements, whether
due to fraud or error, design and perform audit procedures responsive to those risks, and obtain
audit evidence that is sufficient and appropriate to provide a basis for our opinion. The risk of not
detecting a material misstatement resulting from fraud is higher than for one resulting from error,
as fraud may involve collusion, forgery, intentional omissions, misrepresentations, or the override
of internal control.

e Obtain an understanding of internal control relevant to the audit in order to design audit procedures
that are appropriate in the circumstances, but not for the purpose of expressing an opinion on the
effectiveness of the Bank’s internal control.

e Evaluate the appropriateness of accounting policies used and the reasonableness of accounting
estimates and related disclosures made by management.

e Conclude on the appropriateness of management’s use of the going concern basis of accounting
and, based on the audit evidence obtained, whether a material uncertainty exists related to events
or conditions that may cast significant doubt on the Bank’s ability to continue as a going concern.
If we conclude that a material uncertainty exists, we are required to draw attention in our auditors’
report to the related disclosures in the separate financial statements or, if such disclosures are
inadequate, to modify our opinion. Our conclusions are based on the audit evidence obtained up to
the date of our auditors’ report. However, future events or conditions may cause the Bank to cease
to continue as a going concern.

e Evaluate the overall presentation, structure and content of the separate financial statements,
including the disclosures, and whether the separate financial statements represent the underlying
transactions and events in a manner that achieves fair presentation.

We communicate with those charged with governance regarding, among other matters, the planned
scope and timing of the audit and significant audit findings, including any significant deficiencies in
internal control that we identify during our audit.

We also provide those charged with governance with a statement that we have complied with relevant
ethical requirements regarding independence, and to communicate with them all relationships and other
matters that may reasonably be thought to bear on our independence, and where applicable, actions
taken to eliminate threats or safeguards applied.

From the matters communicated with those charged with governance, we determine those matters that
were of most significance in the audit of the separate financial statements of the current period and are
therefore the key audit matters. We describe these matters in our auditors’ report unless law or
regulation precludes public disclosure about the matter or when, in extremely rare circumstances, we
determine that a matter should not be communicated in our report because the adverse consequences of
doing so would reasonably be expected to outweigh the public interest benefits of such communication.

Y
CanX é“(mu:j
Ernst & Young . . W, aun, Gh {rr"l,&‘:(%.‘f

29 May 2025
Beirut, Lebanon



BLOM Bank SAL

SEPARATE INCOME STATEMENT
For the year ended 31 December 2024

Interest and similar income
Interest and similar expense

Net interest income

Fee and commission income

Fee and commission expense

Net fee and commission income

Net gain from financial assets at fair value through profit or loss
Share of profit of subsidiaries

Other operating income

Total operating income

Net recovery (impairment loss) on financial assets
Discounts on loans

Net operating income

Personnel expenses

Other operating expenses

Depreciation of property, equipment and right-of-use assets
Amortization of intangible assets

Total operating expenses

Operating profits

Net (loss) gain on disposal of property and equipment
Profit before tax

Income tax expense

Profit for the year

Notes

10
11
21
22

12

2024
LL million

22,484,714
(3,444,504)

19,040,210

6,843,913
(1,377,912)

5,466,001

19,915,727
5,823,670
326,987

50,572,595

5,568,975
(249,453)

55,892,117

(6,433,603)
(3,579,244)
(175,779)
(31,226)

(10,219,852)

45,672,265

(191,096)

45,481,169

(2,689,118)

42,792,051

The accompanying notes 1 to 49 form part of these separate financial statements.

2023
LL million

7,651,309
(701,866)

6,949,443

1,350,671
(369,897)

980,774

2,293,922
1,034,008
27,882

11,286,029

(2,252,704)
(539,385)

8,493,940

(2,571,338)
(1,400,021)
(45,811)
(1,871)

(4,019,041)

4,474,899

305

4,475,204

(1,432,865)

3,042,339
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BLOM Bank SAL

SEPARATE STATEMENT OF COMPREHENSIVE INCOME
For the year ended 31 December 2024

2024 2023
Notes LL million LL million
Profit for the year 42,792,051 3,042,339
Other comprehensive income that will be reclassified to the
separate income statement in subsequent periods:
Foreign currency translation net of tax
Exchange differences on translation of foreign operations —
branches 10,613,413 2,014,386
Share of other comprehensive income of subsidiaries under equity
method, net of tax 20 38,042,369 5,855,501
Total other comprehensive income that will be reclassified to
the separate income statement in subsequent periods 48,655,782 7,869,887
Other comprehensive income that will not to be reclassified to
the separate income statement in subsequent periods:
Financial assets at fair value through other comprehensive
income
Net unrealized gains 5,939 367
Share of other comprehensive income from subsidiaries under
equity method, net of tax 20 1,407,413 20,335
Total other comprehensive income that will not be reclassified
to the separate income statement in subsequent periods 1,413,352 20,702
Other comprehensive income for the year 50,069,134 7,890,589
Total comprehensive income for the year 92,861,185 10,932,928

The accompanying notes 1 to 49 form part of these separate financial statements.
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BLOM Bank SAL

SEPARATE STATEMENT OF FINANCIAL POSITION
At 31 December 2024

2024 2023
Notes LL million LL million
Assets
Cash and balances with central banks 13 1,153,206,866 198,966,371
Due from banks and financial institutions 14 47,767,230 7,358,587
Due from sister banks 15 417,139 96,619
Derivative financial instruments 16 2,151 1,132
Financial assets at fair value through profit or loss 17 33,274,029 3,547,788
Net loans and advances to customers at amortized cost 18 24,931,106 4,583,845
Net loans and advances to related parties at amortized cost 41 149,668 16,391
Debtors by acceptances 36,405 4,010
Financial assets at fair value through other comprehensive income 256,006 39,288
Financial assets at amortized cost 19 64,449,307 17,092,190
Investments in subsidiaries 20 53,335,949 8,899,555
Property, equipment and right-of-use assets 21 3,531,392 1,067,070
Intangible assets 22 122,867 4,303
Assets obtained in settlements of debt 23 4,502,074 171,003
Other assets 24 681,905 180,062
Total assets 1,386,664,094 242,028,214
Liabilities and equity
Liabilities
Due to central banks 25 5,314,006 2,183,677
Due to banks and financial institutions 26 5,841,460 1,217,982
Due to sister banks 27 7,570,142 1,378,329
Derivative financial instruments 16 4,433 2,224
Customers' deposits at amortized cost 28 1,225,450,190 216,750,340
Deposits from related parties at amortized cost 41 2,593,265 878,647
Engagements by acceptances 39,003 4,626
Other liabilities 29 17,964,395 3,140,398
Provisions for risks and charges 30 13,605,080 1,046,856
Total liabilities 1,278,381,974 226,603,079
Equity
Share capital - common shares 31 322,500 322,500
Share premium on common shares 31 374,085 374,085
Non distributable reserves 32 2,593,535 2,775,114
Distributable reserves 33 37,696 37,696
Treasury shares 34 (4,434) (4,434)
Retained earnings 4,342,032 1,122,314
Revaluation reserve of real estate 35 1,261,488 11,842
Change in fair value of financial assets at fair value
through other comprehensive income 184,305 20,599
Foreign currency translation reserve 56,378,862 7,723,080
Result of the year 42,792,051 3,042,339
Total equity 108,282,120 15,425,135
Total liabilities and equity 1,386,664,094 242,028,214

The accompanying notes 1 to 49 form part of these separate financial statements.
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BLOM Bank SAL

SEPARATE STATEMENT OF CASH FLOWS
For the year ended 31 December 2024

OPERATING ACTIVITIES
Profit for the year before income tax
Adjustments for:
Depreciation of property, equipment and right-of-use assets
Amortization of intangible assets
Gain from sale of property and equipment
Interest on lease liabilities
Provision for risks and charges
Net (recovery) impairment loss on financial assets
Net impairment (write-back of impairment) of assets obtained in settlement of
debt
Gain on disposal of assets obtained in settlement of debt
Share of profit of subsidiaries
Unrealized gain from revaluation of financial assets at fair value through profit or loss
Difference of exchange for provision for foreign currency
Difference of exchange from conversion

Changes in operating assets and liabilities:
Due from banks and financial institutions
Balances with central banks
Due from sister banks
Derivative financial instruments — debit
Financial assets at fair value through profit or loss
Net loans and advances to customers at amortized cost
Net loans and advances to related parties at amortized cost
Debtors by acceptances
Assets obtained in settlement of debt
Other assets
Due to banks and financial institutions
Due to sister banks
Derivative financial instruments — credit
Customers’ deposits at amortized cost
Deposits from related parties at amortized cost
Other liabilities
Provisions for risks and charges

Cash from operations
Retirement benefits obligation paid

Net cash from operating activities

INVESTING ACTIVITIES

Financial assets at amortized cost

Change in fair value of financial assets at fair value through other comprehensive income
Purchase of property and equipment and intangible assets

Transfer of property and equipment and intangible assets

Proceeds from the sale of property and equipment

Proceeds from disposal of assets obtained in settlement of debt

Net cash from investing activities
FINANCING ACTIVITIES
Debt issued and other borrowed funds

Lease liability payments

Net cash used in financing activities

Net foreign exchange difference in respect of cash and cash equivalents
INCREASE IN CASH AND CASH EQUIVALENTS

Cash and cash equivalents at 1 January

CASH AND CASH EQUIVALENTS AT 31 DECEMBER

Operational cash flows from interest and dividends

Interest paid

Interest received
Dividend received

The accompanying notes 1 to 49 form part of these separate financial statements.

Notes

21

30

21,22

36

2024 2023

LL million LL million
45,481,169 4,475,204
175,779 45,811
31,226 1,871
(57,040) (305)
13,614 2,178
1,662,928 755,498
(5,568,975) 2,252,704
11,352 377)
(44,905) (4,860)
(5,823,670) (1,034,008)
(2,373,980) (102,587)
10,802,500 -
(33,210,623) -
11,099,375 6,391,129
(110,381) (289,985)
124,580,332 (1,860,781)
47,795 1,124
(1,019) (1,086)
(9,814,933) 85,766
2,738,852 1,348,351
(58,173) 1,054
(1,078) 1
264,643 (11,565)
61,608 (29,663)
(197,273) 355,574
21,873 671
2,209 2,178
(22,217,569) 2,702,729
(2,607,131) (248,409)
8,677,341 462,195
(324,061) 54,670
112,152,410 8,963,953
(3,454) (3,234)
112,148,956 8,960,719
31,524,868 698,648
(210,779) 20,526
(398,455) (51,339)

- 19

503,923 877
264,643 7,942
31,684,200 676,673
- (38,183)

- (6,785)

- (44,968)
319,456,885 51,466,551
463,290,041 61,058,975
68,489,242 7,430,267
531,779,283 68,489,242
3,348,010 551,018
22,425,666 6,565,883
1,724 255
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BLOM Bank SAL

SEPARATE STATEMENT OF CHANGES IN

For the year ended 31 December 2024

Balance at 1 January 2024

Profit for the year 2024
Other comprehensive income

Total comprehensive income
Appropriation of 2023 profits
Transfers (Note 32)

Other

Balance at 31 December 2024

Balance at 1 January 2023

Profit for the year 2023
Other comprehensive income

Total comprehensive income

Transfer from retained earnings to non-
distributable reserves

Appropriation of 2022 profits

Other

Balance at 31 December 2023

EQUITY
Share
Share  premium Cumulative Foreign
capital- on Non Revaluation changes in currency

common common  distributable Distributable  Treasury Retained reserve of fair value translation Result of
shares shares reserves reserves shares earnings real estate (ocn reserve the year Total
LL million LL million LL million  LL million LL million  LL million LL million LL million LL million  LL million LL million
322,500 374,085 2,775,114 37,696 (4,434) 1,122,314 11,842 20,599 7,723,080 3,042,339 15,425,135
- - - - - - - - - 42,792,051 42,792,051
- - - - - - 1,249,646 163,706 48,655,782 - 50,069,134
- - - - - - 1,249,646 163,706 48,655,782 42,792,051 92,861,185
- - 352,435 - - 2,689,904 - - - (3,042,339) -
- - (534,014) - - 534,014 - - - - -
- - - - - (4,200) - - - - (4,200)
322,500 374,085 2,593,535 37,696 (4,434) 4,342,032 1,261,488 184,305 56,378,862 42,792,051 108,282,120
322,500 374,085 2,735,251 37,696 (4,434) 1,159,650 11,842 (103) (146,807) 5,366 4,495,046
- - - - - - - - - 3,042,339 3,042,339
- - - - - - - 20,702 7,869,887 - 7,890,589
- - - - - - - 20,702 7,869,887 3,042,339 10,932,928
- - 6,210 - - (6,210) - - - - R
- - 33,653 - - (28,287) - - - (5,366) -
. . - - - (2,839) - - - - (2,839)
322,500 374,085 2,775,114 37,696 (4,434) 1,122,314 11,842 20,599 7,723,080 3,042,339 15,425,135

The accompanying notes 1 to 49 form part of these separate financial statements.
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BLOM Bank SAL

NOTES TO THE SEPARATE FINANCIAL STATEMENTS
At 31 December 2024

1 CORPORATE INFORMATION

BLOM Bank SAL (the “Bank™), a Lebanese joint stock company, was incorporated in 1951 and registered under
No 2464 at the commercial registry of Beirut and under No 14 on the banks’ list published by the Central Bank
of Lebanon. The headquarters of the Bank is located in Verdun, Rashid Karameh Street, Beirut, Lebanon. The
Bank’s shares are listed on the Beirut Stock Exchange and Luxembourg Stock Exchange. On 23 October 2020,
the Bank announced that it has applied for the withdrawal of its Global Depositary Shares from trading on the
EUROMTF and the Official List of Luxembourg Stock Exchange with effect from 24 November 2020. Moreover,
the GDSs and its underlying shares will continue to trade on the Beirut Stock Exchange. Noting that the Global
Depository receipt programme (GDR) will continue to operate and all GDSs will remain outstanding.

The Bank provides all banking activities (commercial, investing and private), through 75 branches in Lebanon,
and 17 branches in the Hashemite Kingdom of Jordan.

The Bank has closed its branches in Iraq following the Board of Directors decision on 15 July 2020. The Bank
obtained the approval of the Central Bank of Irag on 24 September 2020 and that of the Central Bank of Lebanon
on 27 November 2020. The branch was fully liquidated during 2024.

During 2022, the Central Bank of Lebanon asked from the Bank to close its branch in Cyprus within six months.
In its meeting held on 12 April 2022, the Board of Directors decided to close its branch operations in Cyprus.

The separate financial statements were authorized for issue in accordance with the Board of Directors’ resolution
on 30 April 2025.

1.1 Macroeconomic environment

The Bank’s operations are mostly in Lebanon that has been witnessing, since 17 October 2019, severe events that
have set off an interconnected fiscal, monetary and economic crisis, as well as deep recession that have reached
unprecedented levels. Sovereign credit ratings have witnessed a series of downgrades by all major rating agencies
and reached the level of default when, on 7 March 2020, the Lebanese Republic announced that it will withhold
payment on the bonds due on 9 March 2020, which was followed by another announcement on 23 March 2020
for the discontinuation of payments on all of its US Dollar-denominated Eurobonds.

Throughout this sequence of events, the ability of the Lebanese government and the banking sector in Lebanon to
borrow funds from international markets was significantly affected. Banks have imposed de-facto capital controls,
restricted transfers of foreign currencies outside Lebanon, significantly reduced credit lines to companies and
withdrawals of cash to private depositors, all of which added to the disruption of the country’s economic activity,
as the economic model of Lebanon relies mainly on imports and consumption. Businesses downsized, closed or
bankrupted, and unemployment and poverty rose fast and have reached unprecedented levels.

The difficulty in accessing foreign currencies led to the emergence of a parallel market to the peg whereby the
price to access foreign currencies increased constantly, deviating significantly from the peg of LBP 1,507.5 to the
US Dollar. This has resulted in an uncontrolled rise in prices and the incessant de facto depreciation of the
Lebanese Pound, impacting intensely the purchasing power of Lebanese citizens, driving a currency crisis, high
inflation and rise in the consumer price index. In February 2023, the Central Bank of Lebanon changed the official
published exchange rate from LBP 1,507.5 to LBP 15,000 to the US Dollar. In January 2024, the Central Bank of
Lebanon changed the official published exchange rate from LBP 15,000 to LBP 89,500 to the US Dollar.

As a result of the de-facto capital controls, the multitude of exchange rates, the hyperinflation, and the potential
repercussions of government reform measures on (i) the banks operating in Lebanon, and (ii) the Lebanese
people’s net worth, their local businesses and their local bank accounts, the Lebanese market saw the need to
differentiate between onshore assets and offshore assets, foreign currency bank accounts that are subject to de-
facto capital controls and those that are not subject to capital controls, onshore liabilities and offshore liabilities.
Hence the new terms in the Lebanese market, such as “local Dollars” to designate local US Dollars bank accounts
that are subject to de-facto capital controls, and “fresh funds/accounts” to designate foreign currency cash and
foreign currency bank accounts which are free from capital controls (as they are sourced from foreign currency
cash and/or from incoming transfers from abroad).
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BLOM Bank SAL

NOTES TO THE SEPARATE FINANCIAL STATEMENTS
At 31 December 2024

1 CORPORATE INFORMATION (continued)
11 Macroeconomic environment (continued)

Lebanese Government’s Financial Recovery Plan
A financial recovery plan was ratified by the Cabinet on 20 May 2022.

The plan includes several measures that are prerequisites to unlock funds from a preliminary deal with the
International Monetary Fund agreed in April 2024, that could help pull the country out of a three-year financial
meltdown.

The endorsed plan foresees a full audit of the Central Bank's forex financial standing. Then, the government "will
cancel, at the outset, a large part of the Central Bank's foreign currency obligations to banks in order to reduce the
deficit in BdL's capital,” the document said. The largest 14 commercial banks, representing 83% of total assets,
would also be audited. Viable banks would be recapitalised with “significant contributions” from banks’
shareholders and large depositors.

The plan made no mention of a sovereign fund to manage state-owned assets but pledges to limit recourse to
public assets, which had been a demand of Lebanon's commercial banks. The plan said it would protect small
depositors "to the maximum extent possible” in each viable bank but did not lay out a minimum amount to be
protected — unlike draft plans. Non-viable banks, however, would be dissolved by the end of November, it added.
As of today, laws for the reinstatement of financial stability, for the resolution of banks and for capital controls
are yet to be issued.

International Monetary Fund

The Lebanese authorities and the IMF team have reached a staff-level agreement (SLA) on comprehensive
economic policies that could be supported by a 46-month Extended Fund Arrangement (EFF) with requested
access of SDR 2,173.9 million (equivalent to about USD 3 billion). This agreement is subject to approval by IMF
Management and the Executive Board, after the timely implementation of all prior actions and confirmation of
international partners’ financial support.

Recent Political Developments

The recent political developments (Ceasefire agreement, presidential elections, PM designation, Cabinet
announcement, etc) opened the country to new horizons if the opportunity is appropriately grasped on behalf of
Lebanese decisions makers. This month saw the formation of a cabinet of qualified experts followed by the
appointment of a new Central Bank Governor.

Banking Restructuring

On 12 April 2025, the Cabinet approved the draft banking reform law which is yet to be approved by the
Parliament. Its implementation is contingent on the passage of the financial gap law, highlighting the
interdependence of the three core reforms: lifting banking secrecy, restructuring banks, and closing the financial

gap.

The law introduces a full legal framework for intervening in the operations of failing banks, with the aim of
protecting depositors, safeguarding financial stability, and ensuring the continuity of essential banking services.
As a starting point, banks are required to meet minimum capital and liquidity requirements that will be specified
in the financial gap law. The law clearly outlines the conditions under which a bank is deemed to be failing or
likely to fail, and introduces several restructuring tools such as recapitalization, forced mergers, and asset
separation.

At the heart of the draft law is the creation of a Bank Restructuring Authority, a specialized independent body
tasked with overseeing the resolution process of distressed financial institutions. This authority would have
sweeping powers, including the ability to initiate bank restructuring, appoint independent valuers, enforce asset
transfers, and if necessary, trigger liquidation procedures.

It remains unclear how the events mentioned above will evolve, and the Bank continues to monitor the situation
closely. Any and all such events mentioned above will add up to the already material adverse prospects on the
Bank’s business, financial condition, results of operations, prospects, liquidity and capital position.
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BLOM Bank SAL

NOTES TO THE SEPARATE FINANCIAL STATEMENTS
At 31 December 2024

1

1.2

CORPORATE INFORMATION (continued)

Regulatory environment

During 2020 and up to the date of authorisation of issue of these separate financial statements, the Central Bank
of Lebanon has issued several circulars to address the situations, mainly:

Basic Circular 150 issued on 9 April 2020 and exempting banks from placing mandatory reserves with the
Central Bank of Lebanon in relation to funds transferred from abroad or cash deposits in foreign currency
received after 9 April 2020, subject to preserving and guaranteeing the liberty of the depositors in
determining the use of these funds and benefiting from all kinds of banking services (transfers abroad,
international credit card limits, foreign currency cash withdrawals...). Banks are requested to maintain at all
times an amount equivalent to those funds in the form of (i) cash held in vaults at the Bank’s premises, (ii)
offshore accounts held with correspondents and (iii) “cash money” accounts held with BdL as per Basic
Circular 165 definition. Intermediate Circular 715 issued on 21 November 2024 expanded the scope to
include sovereign debts instruments issued by G10 countries and debt instruments rated “BBB” and above
on the condition they are held at fair value.

Basic Circular 151 issued on 21 April 2020 and concerning depositors who wish to withdraw amounts of
cash from their foreign currencies accounts as per a specific rate up to limits set by the Bank. The exchange
rate specified by the Central Bank of Lebanon in its transactions with banks will remain applicable to all
other operations in US Dollar. At maturity as at 31 December 2023, the circular was not renewed.

Intermediate Circular 567 issued on 26 August 2020 (amending Basic Circular 23, 44 and 78), which partly
altered the directives for the determination of expected credit losses and regulatory capital calculation and
ratios, previously set in its Intermediate Circular 543 issued on 3 February 2020. Loss rate applied for the
calculation of regulatory expected credit losses on exposures to Lebanese sovereign bonds in foreign
currencies was increased from 9.45% to 45%, (later on increased again to 75% by Intermediate Circular
649), while loss rates applied for the calculation of regulatory expected credit losses on exposures to
Lebanese sovereign bonds in local currency, exposures to the Central Bank of Lebanon in foreign currencies
and exposures to the Central Bank of Lebanon in local currency remained the same (0%, 1.89% and 0%
respectively).

- Allowing banks to constitute the expected credit losses on exposures to Lebanese sovereign and the
Central Bank of Lebanon, progressively over a period of five years, noting that the Central Bank of
Lebanon’s Central Council may accept to extend the term to 10 years for banks that manage to complete
the 20% cash contribution to capital requirement. Intermediate circular 649 issued on 24 November
2022 replaced the aforementioned five years and ten years deadline by the fixed dates of 31 December
2026 and 31 December 2029 respectively.

- Allowing banks not to automatically downgrade loan classification or staging for borrowers that were
negatively affected by the COVID-19 pandemic, showing past due and unpaid for the period from 1
February 2020 to 31 December 2020. These borrowers must be identified as either still operating on a
going concern basis or not. In case the borrower is still operating as a going concern, the Bank may
reschedule the loan. In exceptional cases when the borrower ceases to operate as a going concern
following the impact of the COVID-19 pandemic, the Bank must immediately downgrade the loan
classification and staging to Stage 3 (default).

- Requesting from banks to finalise the assessment of the future financial position of their customers by
31 December 2020, and to estimate expected credit losses based on this assessment and recognise the
financial impact in the statement of income for the year ended 31 December 2020.

- Prohibiting banks from distributing dividends on common shares for the years 2019 and 2020 (Years
2021, 2022, 2023, 2024 and 2025 were subsequently added by way of Intermediate Circulars 616, 659,
676 and 726 respectively).

- Requesting from banks to increase their own funds (equity) by an amount equal to 20% of their common
equity Tier 1 capital as of 31 December 2018, through issuing new foreign currency capital instruments
that meet the criteria for inclusion as regulatory capital, except retained earnings and gain from
revaluation of fixed assets. The Central Bank of Lebanon’s Central Council may exceptionally approve
for a bank to complete 50% of the 20% required capital increase through the transfer of real estate
properties from the shareholders to the concerned bank. However, these real estate properties must be
liquidated in a period of 5 years following the operation.
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BLOM Bank SAL

NOTES TO THE SEPARATE FINANCIAL STATEMENTS
At 31 December 2024

1
1.2

CORPORATE INFORMATION (continued)
Regulatory environment (continued)

Changing the treatment of revaluation of fixed assets reserve for regulatory capital calculation, to
become allowed for inclusion as Common Equity Tier 1 (previously 50% of this reserve was allowed
for inclusion as Tier 2), subject to approval of the Central Bank of Lebanon on the revaluation gain. On
20 January 2023, Intermediate Circular 659 capped the inclusion of revaluation of fixed assets at 50%
under certain conditions while allowing the use of the prevailing Sayrafa rate at the end of each reporting
period over 5 years. Besides, it widened the scope of revaluation to include participations and long-term
loans to affiliated banks and financial institutions. Intermediate Circular 685 issued on 28 December
2023 increased the contribution of this revaluation to Common Equity Tier 1 from 50% to 75%.

Banks must comply with the minimum capital adequacy ratios and are forbidden from distributing
profits if these ratios drop below 7% for common equity Tier 1, 10% for Tier 1 and 12% for total capital.
Banks must maintain a capital conservation buffer of 2.5%, comprised of Common Equity Tier 1. After
allowing banks to draw down the buffer fully during 2020 and 2021, a partial drawn up to 1.75% in
2022, latest regulatory changes introduced on 2 February 2024 via Intermediate Circular 689 allowed a
full draw down of the 2.5% buffer during years 2023 and 2024. Central Bank of Lebanon will issue
future instructions for reconstitution of capital.

Preparing and presenting to the Central Bank of Lebanon a comprehensive plan for rectifying non-
compliances with regulatory capital requirements and other regulations imposed by the Central Bank of
Lebanon, taking into consideration all required provisions by the Banking Control Commission of
Lebanon (BCCL), as well as other losses or provisions that the Bank expects to incur from all kinds of
exposures to risks, and specifying the period of time needed to address the non-compliances.
Exceptionally for the years 2020 and 2021, Allowances for Expected Credit Losses on Stage 1 and 2
exposures, excluding those relating to Lebanese sovereign and the Central Bank of Lebanon, may be
included under regulatory Common Equity Tier 1. This treatment will be amortised over a period of 3
years (2022-2024 by 25% yearly).

Basic Circular 154 issued on 27 August 2020 and aiming mainly at restoring the operations of banks in
Lebanon to their normal levels as at before October 2019, and rectifying any non-compliance with regulatory
ratios and banking regulations. The circular mainly introduced the following measures:

Requesting banks to present a fair assessment of the value of their assets and liabilities for the purpose
of putting in place the comprehensive plan referred to in Intermediate Circular 567 (refer to above), in
order to be able, within a period limited in time, to comply with the regulatory and banking
requirements, mainly those related to liquidity and solvency, and in order to restore the operations of
the Bank to their normal levels as at before October 2019.

Requesting banks to incite each customer who has transferred abroad, between 1 July 2017 and the date
of the circular, more than USD 500,000 or their equivalent in other foreign currencies, to deposit in a
5-year term (extended to 8-year term following Intermediate Circular 707 date 20 September 2024)
“special account” an amount equal to 15% to 30% (depending on the type of customer) of the transferred
amount. Banks shall use this type of deposits to facilitate foreign operations that stimulate the national
economy. This is also applicable for the banks’ importing customers, based on opened letters of credits
during any of the years 2017, 2018 and 2019, and without a minimum threshold.

Requesting from banks to maintain a current account with a foreign correspondent bank offshore, free
of any obligations (cash on premises and liquidity abroad). Such accounts shall be at no time less than
3% of the Bank’s total foreign currency deposits as at 31 July 2020, by 28 February 2021. This
requirement was subject to several amendments; the latest (Intermediate Circular 707) considered
foreign currency deposits as at 31 July 2024 as the basis for the computation instead of 31 July 2020,
thus lowering liquidity required levels as customers’ deposits decreased over the period. Besides, it
extended the date to comply to be 31 December 2025 instead of 28 February 2021. Also it added to the
numerator Lebanese sovereign Eurobonds as well as US Treasury and Investment grade foreign debt
instruments on the condition they are held at fair value. Intermediate Circular 716 issued on 21
November 2024 expanded again the scope to include sovereign debts instruments issued by G10
countries and debt instruments rated “BBB” and above held at fair value

Requesting from banks, after taking consideration of their fair assessment of their financial position, to
present a plan during the first quarter of 2021, to address recapitalisation needs, if any, to the Central
Bank of Lebanon’s Central Council, for its approval. Banks shall take the necessary legal and regulatory
measures in order to facilitate the consensual possibility for their depositors to transfer their deposits to
shares or bonds. Bank shares will be exclusively listed in Beirut. Banks can pay interest on the bonds
that exceed current levels.
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BLOM Bank SAL

NOTES TO THE SEPARATE FINANCIAL STATEMENTS
At 31 December 2024

1

1.2

CORPORATE INFORMATION (continued)
Regulatory environment (continued)

Basic Circular 157 issued on 10 May 2021 and setting the framework of exceptional measures for foreign-
currency operations. Hence, banks operating in Lebanon must process customers’ FX operations (buy and
sell) related to their personal or commercial needs on the electronic platform “Sayrafa”. Transactions with
customers encompass purchase and sale of foreign currencies banknotes against LBP, as well as operations
from/to foreign currencies external accounts against LBP. Banks are required to properly document each
transaction and should not collect commission margins between buy and sell operations exceeding 1%.

Basic Circular 158 issued on 8 June 2021 and defining the mechanism for the gradual settlement of foreign
currency deposits up to an amount equivalent to USD 50,000. To benefit from the provisions of the said
circular, certain eligibility criteria must be met.

Eligible funds will be transferred to a subaccount over which banking secrecy will be lifted vis-a-vis BdL
and BCC before being gradually withdrawn and remitted to the customer on a monthly basis. Customers’
monthly entitlements are (i) an amount of USD 400 in cash or equivalent (transfer abroad, credited to a
payment card with international usage, etc.) (amended later on to US$ 300 for all BDL 158-based contracts
signed with the customers after 1 July 2023 following the issuance of BDL intermediate circular 674 on 5
July 2023) and (ii) an amount in LBP equivalent to USD 400 and converted at a rate USD/LBP 12,000
(before amendment USD/LBP at 15,000 on 20 January 2023), noting that 50% of the amount will be paid
in cash and 50% will be credited to a payment card. The portion in LBP was later on removed with the
issuance of BDL Intermediate Circular 674. On 17 November 2023, BdL issued Intermediate Circular 682
adding an eligibility criteria to benefit from Basic Circular 158. On 8 June 2024, Intermediate Circular 697
expanded the scope of beneficiaries to include minors. Besides, beneficiaries of BDL Basic Circular 158 can
now benefit from BDL Basic Circular 166 as long they don’t benefit from both circulars concurrently in the
same “yearly cycle” (1st of July in any given year -30th of June in the following year). The yearly cycle
requirement was later on removed by Intermediate Circular 717 issued on 26 November 2024.

During 2024 several intermediary circulars were issued granting additional payments to beneficiaries of
Basic Circular 158 (2 in October 2024, 1 for each month from November 2024 to January 2025) All
additional payments were financed from the Bank’s compulsory reserves with BDL in foreign currency.
Intermediate circular 729 issued on 20 February 2025 increased the monthly payment to be $500 for all
beneficiaries of Basic Circular 158. The additional amounts were financed from the Bank’s compulsory
reserves with BDL in foreign currency.

Customers who have transferred their funds after the crisis to another local Bank can benefit from the
provisions of said circular if (i) transferred funds are returned to the originating bank, and if (ii) the customer
hadn’t benefited from the circular neither from the originating Bank, nor the destination Bank. The financing
of the aforementioned process will be secured equally through (i) BdL reduction of compulsory reserves
requirements from 15% to 14% as per BdL Intermediate Circular 586 and (ii) the Bank’s offshore liquidity.
To that end, the Bank can use its foreign liquidity subject computed as per BdL Basic Circular 154
requirements on the condition that it reconstitutes it by 31 December 2022, extended to 31 December 2023
by Intermediate Circular 626 issued on 21 June 2022.

Basic Circular 159 issued on 17 August 2021 preventing banks from processing foreign currency funds
received from customers whether in the form of cash or through offshore transfers at a value other than its
face value, with the exception of transactions pertaining to the settlement of loans (which was subsequently
removed by Intermediate Circular 671 issued on 20 June 2023). It also prevented banks from purchasing
foreign currencies at parallel rate with the exception of the purchase foreign currencies duly recorded on the
electronic platform and resulting from offshore incoming transfers with the purpose of (i) enhancing
liquidity, (ii) engaging in medium or long term investments, (iii) settling international commitments. Finally,
the circular prevented banks from purchasing bankers’ checks and other bank accounts in foreign currencies,
whether directly or indirectly.

Intermediate Circular 600 (amending Basic Circular 73) issued on 3 November 2021 requires banks to record
existing and future provisions for expected credit losses in the same currency as the related assets and off-
balance sheet exposures. Banks are also required to set in place necessary measures to manage their FX
position resulting from provisions recorded in foreign currencies.
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BLOM Bank SAL

NOTES TO THE SEPARATE FINANCIAL STATEMENTS
At 31 December 2024

1

1.2

CORPORATE INFORMATION (continued)

Regulatory environment (continued)

Intermediate Circular 616 issued on 3 March 2022 prohibiting banks from distributing dividends to ordinary
shareholders from results of financial years 2019, 2020 and 2021 (years 2022, 2023 and 2024 were added
through Intermediate Circular 659, 676 and 726 respectively).

Basic Circular 162 issued on 28 March 2022 requesting from banks to secure a level of liquidity sufficient to
allow public sector employees to withdraw their monthly salaries and other compensations without setting any
type of limits.

Basic Circular 163 issued on 27 May 2022 defining the framework for the monitoring of the accounts of public
officials, the performance of due diligence on their operations and the reporting to the Special Investigation
Committee on the basis of founded suspicion.

Intermediate Circular 637 issued on 27 July 2022 (amending Basic Circulars 65 and 78) requires banks selling
real estate properties or participations acquired in accordance with the provisions of Article 153 or 154 of the
CMC, only against fresh USD or its equivalent in LBP based on Sayrafa rate.

Basic Circular 164 issued on 12 October 2022 and requesting banks to report to the Banking Control
Commission on the cost of their monthly operating expenses that should be paid with fresh money, the
resources for settling these expenses and how to ensure those resources.

Intermediate Circular 648 issued on 1 November 2022 (amending Basic Circulars 14 and 67) reduced by 50%
the interest rates served on foreign currencies placements with BdL and on Certificates of Deposits issued by
BdL while continuing paying 50% of coupon payment in the instrument’s currency and 50% in LBP at official
rate (LBP 1,507.5 to the US Dollar until 31 January 2023 and LBP 15,000 to the US Dollar afterwards). This
circular was later amended on 2 February 2024 by Intermediate Circular 686 increasing the interest rate
reduction on foreign currencies placements with BdL and on Certificates of Deposits issued by BdL from 50%
to 75% while limiting the coupon payment to be in FCY only. The Intermediate Circular 701 issued on 27 June
2024 specified that interests paid in USD by BDL on the banks’ term deposits in US dollars and on Certificates
of deposits in US Dollars owned by banks will be placed in the non-“cash money” current account opened at
BDL for the concerned bank. Those provisions are applicable until 31 December 2024. Intermediate Circular
719 issued on 17 December 2024 extended the deadline to 30 June 2025.

Intermediate Circular 649 issued on 24 November 2022 (amending Basic Circulars 44 and 143) introduced a
forbearance treatment in capital ratios computation by allowing the exclusion from Common Equity Tier 1 of
a portion of losses incurred from FX purchases from BdL against LBP banknotes (66% and 33% respectively
in 2022 and 2023)

Intermediate Circular 656 issued on 20 January 2023 stating that Banks and financial institutions operating in
Lebanon must not accept the repayment of loans granted in foreign currencies to non-residents, of which
off-shore companies, except through incoming cross-border transfers of fresh funds.

Basic Circular 165 issued on 19 April 2023 and requesting banks to open new accounts at BDL in LBP and in
USS$ specifically and exclusively for the “Cash Money” (i.e. money transferred from abroad and/or received as
banknotes in foreign currencies after 17 November 2019 in addition to the money deposited or which will be
deposited as banknotes in new accounts in LBP and which respect the conditions set in BDL basic circular 150
for “fresh money”). These new accounts will be used for the settlement, compensation & transfer operations
through BDL National Payment System (BDL-NPS).

Intermediate Circular 683 issued on 17 November 2023 amending the provisions BDL Basic Cicular 32 which
defines the framework of Foreign Exchange (“FX”) operations in Banks operating in Lebanon and various FX
positions computation. This circular came on the wake of several amendments applied in 2023 (Intermediate
Circular 659, Intermediate Circular 675 and Intermediate Circular 677) aiming at converging to the IAS 21:
The Effects of Changes in Foreigh Exchange Rates differentiating monetary from non-monetary items and the
corresponding impact on the Bank’s FX position. Based on the new definition, the Bank is authorized to hold
a Special Long FX position to hedge its core equity against FX risk. This special long FX position is to be
deducted from the FX open position to reach the FX Trading Position. . Besides, the circular reintroduced the
1% maximum limit (if the Bank holds concurrently a long open position and a net long trading position) on net
trading position and 40% limit on Global position, while cancelling all previously authorized structural/fixed
positions and any forbearance limit. The Intermediate Circular 730 issued on 20 February 2025 circular stated
that excesses over set limits whether long or short should be liquidated by 31 December 2025.

16



BLOM Bank SAL
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1

1.2

CORPORATE INFORMATION (continued)

Regulatory environment (continued)

Intermediate Circular 689 issued on 2 February 2024 permitting the full inclusion in Common Equity Tier 1 of
balance of Foreign Currency Translation Adjustments as well as 75% of net changes from FVTOCI
instruments. Besides, it allowed a full draw down of the 2.5% capital conservation buffer during years 2023
and 2024.

Intermediate Circular 690 issued on 2 February 2024 permitting the full inclusion in the regulatory equity of
positive balance (gains) of Foreign Currency Translation Reserve noting that this equity is used for the
computation of various regulatory ratios other than capital adequacy ratios (FX position, limit of placement
with FI, Code of money credit (“CMC”) 153 limit.

Basic Circular 166 issued on 2 February 2024 defining a new mechanism for the repayment of restricted
funds in FCY and de-facto replacing Basic Circular 151, which authorized limited withdrawals in LBP from
foreign currencies accounts at pre-defined exchange rates and has not been renewed. Beneficiaries from said
circular — who cannot be old or current beneficiaries from Basic Circular 158 - would be able to withdraw
on a monthly basis USD150 in cash up to a cumulative amount of USD 4,350 until June 2026. 50% of said
amount will be financed from the Bank’s own liquidity and 50% from the Bank’s restricted funds with BDL.
Certain exclusions parameters apply to potential customers wishing to benefit from the circular (Customers
who did not return offshore transfers as per basic circular 154, traders of checks, customers who converted
LBP deposits into foreign currencies for at least USD 300,000 post-crisis with the exception of those who
converted their end of service indemnity, customers who settled their FCY loans for an amount equivalent
to USD 300,000 from LBP proceeds, beneficiaries of sayrafa transactions above or equal to USD 75,000,
corporate clients, etc.). On 27 June 2024, Intermediate Circular 698 expanded the scope of beneficiaries to
include minors. Besides, beneficiaries of BDL Basic Circular 166 can now benefit from BDL Basic Circular
158 as long they don’t benefit from both circulars concurrently in the same “yearly cycle” (1st of July in any
given year -30th of June in the following year). The yearly cycle requirement was later on removed by
Intermediate Circular 718 issued on 26 November 2024.

During 2024 several intermediary circulars were issued granting additional payments to beneficiaries of
Basic Circular 166 (2 in October 2024, 1 for each month from November 2024 to January 2025) All
additional payments were financed from the Bank’s compulsory reserves with BDL in foreign currency.
Intermediate circular 728 issued on 20 February 2025 increased the monthly payment to be $250 for all
beneficiaries of Basic Circular 166. The additional amounts were financed from the Bank’s compulsory
reserves with BDL in foreign currency.

Basic Circular 167 issued on 2 February 2024 defining the published rate on BDL’s electronic platform as
the FX translation rate for the Bank’s FCY monetary items as well for the non-monetary assets measured at
fair value and assets measured as per equity method in line with 1AS 21. This measure applies starting
January 2024 reported financials.

Intermediate Circular 708 issued on 20 September 2024 (amending Basic Circulars 43 and 44) changing the
treatment of revaluation of foreclosed assets for regulatory capital calculation, to become allowed for
inclusion as Common Equity Tier 1 for 75% of its value (previously 33% of this reserve was allowed for
inclusion as Tier 2), subject to approval of the Central Bank of Lebanon on the revaluation gain and on the
completion of the revaluation before 31 December 2025.

Intermediate Circular 712 issued on 10 October 2024 (amending Basic Circular 147) requesting from Banks
to refund customers’ accounts with the proceeds of a Banker’s check issued by the Bank from the concerned
customer’s account on the condition it has not been endorsed and there are no related litigations. Besides, if
the customer is eligible, he can benefit from provisions of Basic Circulars 158 and 166.

Intermediate Circular 723 issued on 13 January 2025 (amending Basic Circular 81) restricting the granting
of loans in US Dollars to “cash money” only as per Basic Circular 165 definition.

Intermediate Circular 733 issued on 27 March 2025 (amending Basic Circular 159) permitting banks to
purchase foreign currencies provided that the margins and commissions do not exceed 1% of the purchase price
to only sell local foreign currency only to Central Bank of Lebanon. Banks are also restricted to sell or purchase
financial instrument in Local foreign currencies without prior approval from Central Bank of Lebanon
(amended with Intermediate Circular 734 issued on 14 April 2025).
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NOTES TO THE SEPARATE FINANCIAL STATEMENTS
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1 CORPORATE INFORMATION (continued)
1.3 Particular situation of the Bank

Exchange Rates

Several exchange rates had emerged since the last quarter of 2019 that varied significantly among each other and
from the official published exchange rate. The official exchange rate was changed from LBP 1,507.5 to LBP
15,000 to the US Dollar in February 2023 and from LBP 15,000 to LBP 89,500 to the US Dollar in January 2024.
Sayrafa Rates (refer to below) and parallel market rates remained highly volatile and divergent from the official
published exchange rates since the last quarter of 2019 up to the last change in the official published exchange
rate in January 2024, as a result of which they became convergent.

Assets and liabilities in foreign currency, transactions in foreign currency and foreign currency translation
reserves, regardless of whether they are onshore or offshore, were reflected in these separate financial statements
at the official published exchange rates as follows:

2024 2023

Year-end Rate  Average Rate Year-end Rate Average Rate

LL LL LL LL

US Dollar 89,500.00 89,500.00 15,000.00 15,000.00
Euro 93,465.00 93,739.68 16,695.00 15,011.43
Romanian Leu 18,790.33 18,843.56 3,356.05 3,062.05
British Pound 112,717.08 110,721.48 19,209.53 17,258.84
Jordanian Dinar 126,163.00 126,163.00 21,144.60 21,144.60
Egyptian Pound 1,760.40 1,775.90 485.44 449.92
Saudi Riyal 23,835.00 23,824.00 3,999.60 3,698.66
Qatari Riyal 24,551.00 24,533.26 4,114.10 3,782.40
Iragi Dinar 68.32 68.32 11.45 11.45
Arab Emirates Dirham 24,493.57 23,572.47 4,113.39 3,786.97

The exchange rates above consist of the official exchange rates published by the Central Bank of Lebanon on a
monthly basis.

Sayrafa Platform

On 10 May 2021, the Central Bank of Lebanon issued Basic Circular 157 setting the framework of exceptional
measures for foreign-currency operations. Hence, banks operating in Lebanon must process customers’ FX
operations (buy and sell) related to their personal or commercial needs on the electronic platform “Sayrafa”.

Transactions with customers encompass purchase and sale of foreign currencies banknotes against LBP, as well
as operations from/to foreign currencies external accounts against LBP. Sayrafa corresponds to a floating system
and the Sayrafa average rate and volume of foreign currency operations are published on the website of the Central
Bank of Lebanon. Foreign currency operations were executed on the Sayrafa platform at the following exchange
rates:

Average Average
Rate for the Rate for the
Rate as at year ended Rate as at year ended
31 31 31 31
December December December December
2024 2024 2023 2023
LL LL LL LL
US Dollar 89,500 89,500 89,500 78,116

The platform rate is not available for the purchase and sale of and “local” foreign currency bank accounts which
are subject to de-facto capital controls.
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1 CORPORATE INFORMATION (continued)
1.3 Particular situation of the Bank (continued)
Exchange Rates (continued)

31 December 2024

The Bank uses the official published exchange rate to translate all balances and transactions in foreign currencies,
regardless of their source or nature. With respect to onshore monetary assets and liabilities, subject to de-facto
capital controls, this does not always represent a reasonable estimate of expected cash flows in Lebanese Pounds
that would have to be generated/used from the realisation of such assets or the payment of such liabilities at the
date of the separate financial statements.

31 December 2023

Because of the gap between the several exchange rates available, the number of variables and assumptions
affecting the possible future resolution of the uncertainties is very high, increasing the subjectivity and complexity
of the judgment, and Management was unable to determine the rate at which the future cash flows represented by
the transaction or balance could have been settled depending on its source and nature, if those cash flows had
occurred at the measurement date. Accordingly, the Bank used the official published exchange rate to translate all
balances and transactions in foreign currencies, regardless of their source or nature which did not represent a
reasonable estimate of expected cash flows in Lebanese Pounds that would have to be generated/used from the
realisation of such assets or the payment of such liabilities.

Expected Credit Losses

As at 31 December 2024, loss allowances on assets held at the Central Bank of Lebanon recorded in these separate
financial statements amounted to LL 103,749 billion against gross exposure of LL 1,236,424 billion (2023: LL
17,388 hillion against LL 211,082 billion). In addition, as at 31 December 2024, loss allowances on Certificates
of deposits under financial assets at amortized cost recorded in these separate financial statements amounted to
LL 1,977 billion against gross exposure of LL 36,025 billion (2023: LL 331 billion against LL 11,615 billion).
Due to the high levels of uncertainty and to the lack of observable indicators and of visibility on the government’s
plans with respect to banks’ exposure to the Central Bank of Lebanon and Lebanese sovereign, we are unable to
estimate in a reasonable manner expected credit losses on these exposures. Accordingly, these separate financial
statements do not include adjustments of the carrying amount of these assets to their recoverable amounts based
on IFRS Accounting Standards and an expected credit loss model.

The impact is expected to be pervasive and will be reflected in the separate financial statements once the debt
restructuring has been defined conclusively by the government and all uncertainties and constraints are resolved,
and once the mechanism for allocating losses by asset class and currency is clear and conclusive. Maximum
exposures to the credit risk of the Central Bank of Lebanon and the Lebanese government and the recognised loss
allowances, as well as their staging, are detailed in note 43 to these separate financial statements.

As a result of the negative economic conditions and the deepening of the recession, the credit quality of the private
loans portfolio concentrated in Lebanon has significantly deteriorated since the last quarter of 2019. The
deterioration was further aggravated by the effects of the significant high inflation in Lebanon. Since the start of
the Lebanese crisis, the Bank has been implementing a de-risking strategy by considerably reducing its assets size,
specifically its portfolio of private loans concentrated in Lebanon. However, given the high level of uncertainties
facing the Lebanese economy and the expected type of instruments underlying future cash flows on settlement of
these private loans, loss allowances have been estimated based on the best available information at the reporting
date about past events, current conditions and forecasts of economic conditions combined with expert judgment.
Maximum exposures to the credit risk of the Bank’s portfolio of private loans and the recognised loss allowances,
as well as their staging, are detailed in note 43 to these separate financial statements.

The separate financial position of the Bank, as reported in these separate financial statements, does not reflect the
adjustments that would be required by IFRS Accounting Standards as a result of the future government reform
program, the deep recession, the currency crisis and the hyperinflation. Due to the high levels of uncertainties, the
lack of observable indicators, the uncertainty on the exchange rate, and the lack of visibility on the government’s
plans with respect to: (a) the high exposures of banks with the Central Bank of Lebanon, (b) the Lebanese
sovereign securities, and (c) the currency exchange mechanisms and currency exchange rates that will be applied,
Management is unable to estimate in a reasonable manner the impact of these matters on its separate financial
position. Management anticipates that the above matters will have a materially adverse impact on the Bank’s
separate financial position and its separate equity.
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1 CORPORATE INFORMATION (continued)
1.3 Particular situation of the Bank (continued)

Litigations and Claims

Until the above uncertainties are resolved, the Bank is continuing its operations as performed since 17 October
2019 and in accordance with the laws and regulations. De-facto capital controls and inability to transfer foreign
currencies to correspondent banks outside Lebanon are exposing the Bank to litigations that are dealt with on a
case by case basis when they occur. The Bank has been subject to increased litigations as a result of these
restrictive measures adopted by Lebanese banks in relation to withdrawal of funds and transfers abroad, as well
as in relation to the repayment by customers of local foreign currency loans in Lebanese Pounds. Management is
carefully considering the impact of these litigations and claims. There are still uncertainties related to the
consequences of these restrictive measures based on the current available information and the prevailing laws and
local banking practices. Management believes that a legislative solution is urgently needed, through the enactment
of laws that are appropriate for the adjudication of the unconventional legal disputes arising under the current
exceptional circumstances. Due to recent developments and the increasing trend in judgments ruled in favour of
the plaintiffs and customers from the years 2021 till 2024. Management considers that they may affect negatively
the liquidity of the Bank (refer to note 47). The amount cannot be determined presently.

Taxes, Social Security Contributions and Related Provisions

Due to the availability of several exchange rates in the Lebanese market, the determination of taxes, social security
contributions and related provisions in relation to transactions or activities in foreign currencies are highly
sensitive to the exchange rates applied. As a result of the unprecedented events and circumstances, there is high
level of judgment involved in deciding on the exchange rates used and any change in these exchange rates, would
result in a different determination of taxes, social security contributions and related provisions.

Law 330 dated 4 December 2024

Law 330 enacted on 4 December 2024 (amending Article 45 of Income Tax Law 144 and its amendments),
authorized taxpayers to conduct a nontaxable exceptional revaluation of fixed assets and inventory, and an
exceptional adjustment on the negative or positive foreign exchange differences resulting from receivable and
payable balances and from financial accounts in foreign currency. On 12 March 2025, the Ministry of Finance
issued the decisions 338, 339 and 340 related to the application of Law 330. Due to the late issuance of the
decisions, the Bank was unable to quantify or record the impact of the law on the taxes in the Bank’s separate
financial statements for the year ended 31 December 2024. The Bank is currently working to identify all impacts
the law will have on the separate financial statements.

Measures by the Bank

Meanwhile, the Bank is exerting extended efforts to (a) strengthen its capitalisation, (b) enhance the quality of its
private loans portfolio, deleveraging it as appropriate and downsizing its balance sheet, (c) build up its offshore
liquidity and reduce its commitments and contingencies to correspondent banks and financial institutions outside
Lebanon and (d) manage operating profitability.

On 1 October 2020, the Bank received a letter from the Central Bank of Lebanon, referring to Basic Circular 154
and Intermediate Circular 567, and requesting the Bank to submit a roadmap that sets out the following:
e The Bank’s overall strategy for the years 2020-2024.
e The Bank’s assessment of its portfolio of private loans and expected credit losses as at 31 December
2020, as well as total realised and expected losses for the year 2020.
e The amount of expected credit losses that have not been translated yet to foreign currencies.
e The capital needs to comply with the minimum required capital and the measures and sources that will
be relied upon to cover the shortfall, when existing.
e The Bank’s strategy with respect to its investments in foreign banks and branches.
e  The mechanism to rectify any non-compliance with regulatory requirements.
e The measures that will be taken to rectify non-compliances with articles 154 and 153 of the Code of
Money and Credit, if any.
The measures that will be taken to attract foreign liquidity or “fresh funds” and to cover liquidity onshore
and offshore commitments.

The roadmap was submitted to the Central Bank of Lebanon on 4 December 2020 including a number of
assumptions that remain highly susceptible to material change depending on the evolution of the financial,
monetary and operating conditions in Lebanon. Hence, a definitive reasonable and credible roadmap can only be
achieved once the many material uncertainties still governing the outlook in Lebanon are resolved and the amount
of recapitalisation needs is accurately determinable.
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1 CORPORATE INFORMATION (continued)
1.3 Particular situation of the Bank (continued)

Measures by the Bank (continued)

Once the above uncertainties are resolved, a pro-forma balance sheet of the Bank will be prepared which will
include the effects of the hyperinflation, the effects of the restructuring of the government debt securities, the
effects of the restructuring of the Central Bank of Lebanon balance-sheet and the effects on its private loan
portfolio.

The Bank’s key strategic objectives during this challenging period focused on the consolidation and de-risking of
the domestic franchise and operations, and the ring-fencing of foreign entities and branches from Lebanon spill-
over effects: 1- Strengthening the Bank’s foreign currency liquidity metrics; 2- Maintaining sufficient capital
buffers over the minimum regulatory capital adequacy levels; 3- Improving asset quality by (i) closely monitoring
the lending portfolios, taking early remedial actions on problematic files and maintaining adequate provisioning
coverage and (ii) significantly reducing sovereign debt exposure; especially in foreign currency; 4-Ensuring that
foreign entities continue to provide the Bank with diversified income generation capacity; 5-Targeting a lean
organizational structure by improving operational efficiency and optimizing cost structure.

The Bank is taking measures to help strengthen its financial position, including international liquidity and
solvency metrics. However, as at 31 December 2024, consolidated capital adequacy ratios stood at 6.69%, 6.69%
and 6.78% for CET1, Tier 1 and Total CAR respectively (minimum regulatory levels of 4.5%, 6.0% and 8.0%,
since banks are allowed to draw down on the 2.5% capital conservation buffer during 2023 and 2024).

In the continued absence of the long awaited banking restructuring plan, the Bank is unable to predict the impact
of the crisis and the then adopted restructuring plan on the financial statements of the Bank in Lebanon, nor it is
able to predict the measures that might be taken by the regulator in that regard. The Bank is also uncertain whether
the measures implemented since the outset of the crisis and mentioned above would be sufficient to cover all its
commitments as they become due and restore the activities of the Bank to normal pre-crisis levels. Such
sufficiency and a reasonable and credible plan can only be achieved once the uncertainties from the prevailing
crisis, and, as well as the implementation of a clear national fiscal and economic recovery plan are resolved. It is
only at that particular point in time that a pro-forma balance sheet of the Bank will be prepared and will include
the effects of the hyperinflation, the effects of the restructuring of the government debt securities, the effects of
the restructuring of the Central Bank of Lebanon balance-sheet and to a lesser extent the effects on its private loan
portfolio.

The Lebanese crisis which was set off during the last quarter of 2019 has imposed severe limitations on the ability
to conduct Commercial Banking activities or transactions under the normal course of business in Lebanon. Market
embedded factors, such as de-facto capital controls, inability to secure foreign liquidity and the existence of
several values for the US Dollar, resulted into several practices and transactions that would not qualify as normal
course of business in a non-crisis environment, and for which there are no directly observable prices or a governing
legal/regulatory framework. Such practices and transactions expose the Bank to increased litigation and regulatory
risks, and negatively impact the financial position of the Bank, its regulatory ratios and covenants due the adverse
effects of the uncertainties. There is a significant uncertainty in relation to the extent and period over which this
situation will continue and the impact that conducting operations under a crisis environment in the foreseeable
future will further have on the Bank’s financial position, future cash flows, results of operations, regulatory ratios
and covenants. The Bank’s realisation value of assets and sufficiency and settlement value of liabilities are
premised on future events, the outcome of which are inherently uncertain.

2 MATERIAL ACCOUNTING POLICIES
2.1 Basis of preparation

The separate financial statements have been prepared on a historical cost basis except for: a) the restatement of
certain tangible real estate properties in Lebanon according to the provisions of law No 282 dated 30 December
1993, b) the measurement at fair value of derivative financial instruments, financial assets at fair value through
profit or loss, and financial assets at fair value through other comprehensive income and c) the measurement of
investments in subsidiaries using the equity method.
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2 MATERIAL ACCOUNTING POLICIES (continued)
2.1 Basis of preparation (continued)

The separate financial statements are presented in Lebanese Lira (LL), which is the Bank’s functional currency,
and all values are rounded to the nearest LL million, except when otherwise indicated.

These separate financial statements incorporate the results of operations, assets and liabilities of Blom Bank SAL
and its branches in Jordan and Cyprus only, without consolidating the operating results and financial position of
the subsidiaries. Consolidated financial statements as of 31 December 2024 are also presented by the Bank, and
are available at the Bank’s offices.

As of 31 December 2024 and 2023, all conditions have been met for the Bank’s separate financial statements to
incorporate the inflation adjustment provided under IAS 29 “Financial Reporting in Hyperinflationary
Economies”. IFRS Accounting Standards require that financial statements of any entity whose functional currency
is the currency of a hyperinflationary economy be restated into the current purchasing power at the end of the
reporting period. Paragraph 4 of IAS 29 states that it is preferable for all entities that report in the currency of a
hyperinflationary economy to apply the standard at the same date. In order to achieve uniformity as to the
identification of an economic environment of this kind, I1AS 29 provides certain guidelines: a cumulative three-
year inflation rate exceeding 100% is a strong indicator of hyperinflation, but also qualitative factors, such as
analysing the behaviour of population, prices, interest rates and wages should also be considered.

The Lebanese Central Administration of Statistics reported 3-year and 12-month cumulative rates of inflation of
666% and 18%, respectively, as of December 2024 (2023: 2,005% and 192%). Qualitative indicators, following
the deteriorating economic condition and currency controls, also support the conclusion that Lebanon is a
hyperinflationary economy for accounting purposes for periods ending on or after 31 December 2020. Therefore,
entities whose functional currency is the Lebanese Pound should restate their financial statements to reflect the
effects of inflation in conformity with IAS 29. Such restatements shall be made as if the Lebanese economy has
always been hyperinflationary, using a general price index that reflects the changes in the currency’s purchasing
power.

The effects of the application of IAS 29 are summarised below:

(a) Financial statements must be adjusted to consider the changes in the currency’s general purchasing power, so
that they are expressed in the current unit of measure at the end of the reporting period.

(b) Insummary, the restatement method under IAS 29 is as follows:

i. Monetary items are not restated in as much as they are already expressed in terms of the measuring unit
current at the closing date of the reporting period. In an inflationary period, keeping monetary assets generates
loss of purchasing power and keeping monetary liabilities generates an increase in purchasing power. The net
monetary gain or loss shall be included as income for the period for which it is reported.

ii. Non-monetary items carried at the current value of the end date of the reporting period shall not be restated
to be presented in the balance sheet, but the restatement process must be completed in order to determine into
the current purchasing power at the end of the reporting period the income derived from such non-monetary
items.

iii. Non-monetary items carried at historical cost or at the current value of a date prior to the end of the reporting
period are restated using coefficients that reflect the variation recorded in the general level of prices from the
date of acquisition or revaluation to the closing date of the reporting period, then comparing the restated
amounts of such assets with the relevant recoverable values. Depreciation charges of property, plant and
equipment and amortisation charges of intangible assets recognised in profit or loss for the period, as well as
any other consumption of non-monetary assets will be determined based on the new restated amounts.

iv. Income and expenses are restated from the date when they were recorded, except for those profit or loss items
that reflect or include in their determination the consumption of assets carried at the purchasing power of the
currency as of a date prior to the recording of the consumption, which are restated based on the date when the
asset to which the item is related originated; and except those profit or loss items originated from comparing
two measurements expressed in the purchasing power of currency as of different dates, for which it is
necessary to identify the compared amounts, restate them separately and compare them again, but with the
restated amounts.

v. At the beginning of the first year of application of the restatement method of financial statements in terms of
the current measuring unit, the prior year comparatives are restated in terms of the measuring unit current at
the end of the current reporting period. The equity components, except for reserved earnings and undistributed
retained earnings, shall also be restated, and the amount of undistributed retained earnings shall be determined
by the difference between net assets restated at the date of transition and the other components of opening
equity expressed as indicated above, once all remaining equity components are restated.
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2 MATERIAL ACCOUNTING POLICIES (continued)
2.1 Basis of preparation (continued)

As of the date of the accompanying separate financial statements, Management is temporarily unable to apply the
above-mentioned standard, nor is it able to quantify the effect that the application of IAS 29 would have on the
presented separate financial statements due to the following considerations: the significant divergence in exchange
rates, the lack of consensus on the general price index and the lack of views of relevant regulators, including tax
authorities. However, management estimates such effects to be significant. This situation must be taken into
account when interpreting the information reported by the Bank in the accompanying separate financial statements
including its separate statement of financial position, separate income statement, separate statement of
comprehensive income and separate cash flow statement.

The Bank is currently assessing the date at which it will apply IAS 29. The application of IAS 29 is very complex
and requires the Bank to develop new accounting software and processes, internal controls and governance
framework. Based on the Bank’s preliminary assessment, the absence of an official legal payment and settlement
mechanism that would reflect in a reasonable manner, the expected cash flows for assets and liabilities in foreign
currencies, and the absence of an accurate reflection of price changes impede the useful information that would
have been otherwise produced from the application of IAS 29. Accordingly, the Bank has postponed the
application of IAS 29 and incurring costs for developing accounting processes and a governance framework until
the Bank is comfortable that such application would provide the users with more relevant information.

Statement of compliance

The separate financial statements have been prepared in accordance with IFRS Accounting Standards as issued
by the International Accounting Standards Board (IASB), and the regulations of the Central Bank of Lebanon and
the Banking Control Commission (“BCC”).

Presentation of separate financial statements

The Bank presents its statement of financial position broadly in order of liquidity. An analysis regarding recovery
or settlement within one year after the statement of financial position date (current) and more than one year after
the statement of financial position date (non-current) is presented in these notes.

Financial assets and financial liabilities are generally reported gross in the separate statement of financial position.
They are offset and the net amount is reported only when there is a legally enforceable right to offset the recognised
amounts and there is an intention to settle on a net basis — or to realise the assets and settle the liability
simultaneously — in all of the following circumstances: a) the normal course of business, b) the event of default,
and c) the event of insolvency or bankruptcy of the Bank and/or its counterparties.

Only gross settlement mechanisms with features that eliminate or result in insignificant credit and liquidity risk
and that process receivables and payables in a single settlement process or cycle would be, in effect, equivalent to
net settlement. This is not generally the case with master netting agreements; therefore the related assets and
liabilities are presented gross in the separate statement of financial position. Income and expense will not be offset
in the separate income statement unless required or permitted by any accounting standard or interpretation, as
specifically disclosed in the accounting policies of the Bank. The effect of netting arrangements is disclosed in
note 25 to the separate financial statements.

2.2 New and amended standards and interpretations

The Bank applied for the first time, certain amendments to the standards which are effective for annual periods
beginning on or after 1 January 2024. The nature and impact of each amendment is described below:

Amendments to IFRS 16: Lease Liability in a Sale and Leaseback

In September 2022, the IASB issued amendments to IFRS 16 to specify the requirements that a seller-lessee uses
in measuring the lease liability arising in a sale and leaseback transaction, to ensure the seller-lessee does not
recognise any amount of the gain or loss that relates to the right of use it retains.

The amendments had no impact on the Bank’s separate financial statements.
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2.2 New and amended standards and interpretations (continued)

Amendments to IAS 1: Classification of Liabilities as Current or Non-current

In January 2020, the IASB issued amendments to paragraphs 69 to 76 of IAS 1 to specify the requirements for

classifying liabilities as current or non-current. The amendments clarify:

a. What is meant by a right to defer settlement.

b. That a right to defer must exist at the end of the reporting period.

c. That classification is unaffected by the likelihood that an entity will exercise its deferral right.

d. That only if an embedded derivative in a convertible liability is itself an equity instrument would the terms of
a liability not impact its classification.

In addition, a requirement has been introduced to require disclosure when a liability arising from a loan agreement
is classified as non-current and the entity’s right to defer settlement is contingent on compliance with future
covenants within twelve months.

The amendments had no impact on the Bank’s separate financial statements.

Supplier Finance Arrangements - Amendments to IAS 7 and IFRS 7

In May 2023, the IASB issued amendments to IAS 7 Statement of Cash Flows and IFRS 7 Financial Instruments:
Disclosures to clarify the characteristics of supplier finance arrangements and require additional disclosure of such
arrangements. The disclosure requirements in the amendments are intended to assist users of financial statements
in understanding the effects of supplier finance arrangements on an entity’s liabilities, cash flows and exposure to
liquidity risk.

The transition rules clarify that an entity is not required to provide disclosures in any interim periods in the year
of initial application of the amendments. Thus, the amendments had no impact on the Bank’s separate financial
statements.

2.3 Standards issued but not yet effective

Lack of exchangeability — Amendments to 1AS 21

In August 2023, the Board issued Lack of Exchangeability (Amendments to IAS 21). The amendment to IAS 21
specifies how an entity should assess whether a currency is exchangeable and how it should determine a spot
exchange rate when exchangeability is lacking. When an entity estimates a spot exchange rate because a currency
is not exchangeable into another currency, it discloses information that enables users of its financial statements to
understand how the currency not being exchangeable into the other currency affects, or is expected to affect, the
entity’s financial performance, financial position and cash flows. The amendments will be effective for annual
reporting periods beginning on or after 1 January 2025. Early adoption is permitted but will need to be disclosed.
When applying the amendments, an entity cannot restate comparative information. The Bank is currently assessing
the impact of the amendments on the Bank’s financial statements.

IFRS 18 Presentation and Disclosure in Financial Statements

In April 2024, the IASB issued IFRS 18, which replaces IAS 1 Presentation of Financial Statements. IFRS 18
introduces new requirements for presentation within the statement of profit or loss, including specified totals and
subtotals. Furthermore, entities are required to classify all income and expenses within the statement of profit or
loss into one of five categories: operating, investing, financing, income taxes and discontinued operations, whereof
the first three are new.

It also requires disclosure of newly defined management-defined performance measures, subtotals of income and
expenses, and includes new requirements for aggregation and disaggregation of financial information based on
the identified ‘roles’ of the primary financial statements (PFS) and the notes.

In addition, narrow-scope amendments have been made to IAS 7 Statement of Cash Flows, which include
changing the starting point for determining cash flows from operations under the indirect method, from *profit or
loss’ to ‘operating profit or loss” and removing the optionality around classification of cash flows from dividends
and interest. In addition, there are consequential amendments to several other standards.

IFRS 18, and the amendments to the other standards, is effective for reporting periods beginning on or after 1
January 2027, but earlier application is permitted and must be disclosed. IFRS 18 will apply retrospectively. The
Bank is currently working to identify all impacts the amendments will have on the primary financial statements
and notes to the financial statements.
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2.4 Material accounting policies

Foreign currencies

The separate financial statements are presented in Lebanese Lira (LL), which is also Bank’s functional currency.
Each foreign branch of the Bank determines its own functional currency and items included in the separate
financial statements of each foreign branch are measured using that functional currency.

(i) Transactions and balances
Transactions in foreign currencies are initially recorded at the functional currency rate of exchange ruling at the
date of the transaction as disclosed in note 1 to the separate financial statements.

Monetary assets and liabilities denominated in foreign currencies are retranslated at the functional currency rate
of exchange at the date of the statement of financial position. All differences are taken to “Net loss from financial
assets at fair value through profit or loss” in the separate income statement, except for monetary items that are
designated as part of the hedge of the Bank’s net investment in a foreign operation. These are recognized in OCI
until the net investment is disposed of, at which time, the cumulative amount is reclassified to profit or loss. Tax
charges and credits attributable to exchange differences on those monetary items are also recorded in OCI.

Non-monetary items that are measured in terms of historical cost in a foreign currency are translated using the
exchange rates as at the dates of the initial transactions. Non—monetary items measured at fair value in a foreign
currency are translated using the exchange rates at the date when the fair value was determined. The gain or loss
arising on translation of non-monetary items measured at fair value is treated in line with the recognition of gain
or loss on change in fair value of the item (i.e. translation differences on items whose fair value gain or loss is
recognized in other comprehensive income or profit or loss are also recognized in other comprehensive income
or profit or loss, respectively).

(i) Translation of foreign branches

As at the reporting date, the assets and liabilities of overseas branches are translated into the Bank’s presentation
currency at the rate of exchange as at the reporting date as disclosed in note 1 to the separate financial statements,
and their income statements are translated at the weighted average exchange rates for the year as disclosed in note
1 to the separate financial statements. Exchange differences arising on translation are recognized in OCI. On
disposal of a foreign branch, the deferred cumulative amount recognized in OCI relating to that particular foreign
branch is reclassified to the separate income statement.

Financial instruments — initial recognition

(i) Date of recognition

All financial assets and liabilities are initially recognized on the settlement date. This includes “regular way
trades”: purchases or sales of financial assets that require delivery of assets within the time frame generally
established by regulation or convention in the market place.

(i)  Initial measurement of financial instruments

Financial instruments are initially measured at their fair value, plus or minus, in the case of a financial instrument
not at fair value through profit or loss, transaction costs that are directly attributable to the acquisition or issue of
the financial instrument. In the case of a financial instrument measured at fair value, with the change in fair value
being recognized in profit or loss, the transaction costs are recognized as revenue or expense when the instrument
is initially recognized. When the fair value of financial instruments at initial recognition differs from the transaction
price, the Bank accounts for the Day 1 profit or loss, as described below.

(iii) Day 1 Profit or Loss

When the transaction price differs from the fair value at origination and the fair value is based on a valuation
technique using only observable inputs in market transactions, the Bank immediately recognizes the difference
between the transaction price and fair value (a “Day 1” profit or loss) in the separate income statement. In cases
where fair value is based on models for which some of the inputs are not observable, the difference between the
transaction price and the fair value is deferred and is only recognized in the separate income statement when the
inputs become observable, or when the instrument is derecognized.
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2.4 Material accounting policies (continued)

Financial assets — classification and measurement

On initial recognition, financial assets are classified as measured at: amortised cost, fair value through other

comprehensive income, or fair value through profit or loss on the basis of two criteria:

M The business model within which financial assets are measured; and

(i) Their contractual cash flow characteristics (whether the cash flows represent “solely payments of
principal and interest” (SPPI)).

Financial assets are measured at amortised cost if they are held within a business model whose objective is to hold
assets to collect contractual cash flows, and their contractual cash flows represent SPPI.

Financial assets are measured at fair value through other comprehensive income if they are held within a business
model whose objective is achieved by both collecting contractual cash flows and selling financial assets, and their
contractual cash flows represent SPPI.

All other financial assets are classified as measured at fair value through profit or loss.

On initial recognition of an equity investment that is not held for trading, the Bank may irrevocably elect to present
subsequent changes in fair value in other comprehensive income. This election is made on an investment-by-
investment basis.

On initial recognition, the Bank may irrevocably designate a financial asset as measured at fair value through profit
or loss if doing so eliminates or significantly reduces a measurement or recognition inconsistency (sometimes
referred to as an “accounting mismatch”) that would otherwise arise from measuring assets or liabilities or
recognising the gains and losses on them on different bases. The Bank is required to disclose such financial assets
separately from those mandatorily measured at fair value.

Business model

The Bank determines its business model at the level that best reflects how it manages groups of financial assets
to achieve its business objective. Generally, a business model is a matter of fact which can be evidenced by the
way business is managed and the information provided to Management.

The Bank's business model is not assessed on an instrument-by-instrument basis, but at a higher level of
aggregated portfolios and is based on observable factors such as:
- How the performance of the business model and the financial assets held within that business model are
evaluated and reported to the entity's key management personnel.
- The risks that affect the performance of the business model (and the financial assets held within that
business model) and, in particular, the way those risks are managed.
- How managers of the business are compensated (for example, whether the compensation is based on the
fair value of the assets managed or on the contractual cash flows collected).
- The expected frequency, value and timing of sales are also important aspects of the Bank’s assessment.

The business model assessment is based on reasonably expected scenarios without taking ‘worst case' or 'stress
case’ scenarios into account. The Bank’s business model can be to hold financial assets to collect contractual cash
flows even when sales of financial assets occur. However, if more than an infrequent number of sales are made
out of a portfolio, the Bank needs to assess whether and how such sales are consistent with an objective of
collecting contractual cash flows. If the objective of the Bank’s business model for managing those financial assets
changes, the Bank is required to reclassify financial assets.

The SPPI test
As a second step of its classification process the Bank assesses the contractual terms of financial assets to identify
whether they meet the SPPI test.

‘Principal’ for the purpose of this test is defined as the fair value of the financial asset at initial recognition and
may change over the life of the financial asset (for example, if there are repayments of principal or amortization
of the premium/discount).

The most significant elements of interest within a lending arrangement are typically the consideration for the time
value of money and credit risk. To make the SPPI assessment, the Bank applies judgement and considers relevant
factors such as the currency in which the financial asset is denominated, and the period for which the interest rate
is set.
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2.4 Material accounting policies (continued)
Financial assets — classification and measurement (continued)

The SPPI test (continued)

In contrast, contractual terms that introduce a more than de minimis exposure to risks or volatility in the
contractual cash flows that are unrelated to a basic lending arrangement do not give rise to contractual cash flows
that are solely payments of principal and interest on the amount outstanding. In such cases, the financial asset is
required to be measured at fair value though profit and loss.

Financial assets at amortized cost
Balances with Central Banks, Due from Banks and Financial Institutions, Due from Sister Banks, Loans to Banks
and Financial Institutions and Loans and Advances to Customers and Related Parties at Amortized Cost and
Finance Assets at Amortized Cost.

These financial assets are initially recognized at cost, being the fair value of the consideration paid for the
acquisition of the investment. All transaction costs directly attributed to the acquisition are also included in the
cost of investment. After initial measurement, these are subsequently measured at amortized cost using the EIR,
less expected credit losses. Amortized cost is calculated by taking into account any discount or premium on
acquisition and fees and costs that are an integral part of the EIR. The amortization is included in “interest and
similar income” in the separate income statement. The losses arising from impairment are recognized in the
separate income statement in “net recovery (impairment losses) on financial assets”. Gains and losses arising from
the derecognition of financial assets measured at amortized cost are reflected under “net loss from derecognition
of financial assets at amortized cost” in the separate income statement.

Financial assets at fair value through other comprehensive income

Debt instruments at fair value through other comprehensive income

These financial assets are initially recognised at cost, being the fair value of the consideration paid for the
acquisition of the investment. All transaction costs directly attributed to the acquisition are also included in the
cost of investment. After initial measurement, these are subsequently measured at fair value with gains and losses
arising due to changes in fair value recognised in other comprehensive income. Interest income and foreign
exchange gains and losses are recognised in the income statement in the same manner as for financial assets
measured at amortised cost. The ECL calculation for debt instruments at fair value through other comprehensive
income is explained below. On derecognition, cumulative gains or losses previously recognised in other
comprehensive income are reclassified from other comprehensive income to the income statement..

Equity instruments at fair value through other comprehensive income

Upon initial recognition, the Bank can elect to classify irrevocably some of its investments in equity instruments
at fair value through other comprehensive income when they are not held for trading. Such classification is
determined on an instrument-by-instrument basis.

These financial assets are initially measured at fair value plus transaction costs. Subsequently, they are measured
at fair value, with gains and losses arising from changes in fair value recognised in other comprehensive income
and accumulated under equity. The cumulative gain or loss will not be reclassified to the separate income
statement on disposal of the investments. Equity instruments at fair value through other comprehensive income
are not subject to an impairment assessment.

Financial assets at fair value through profit or loss

Included in this category are those debt instruments that do not meet the conditions in “financial assets at
amortized cost™ and “financial assets at fair value through other comprehensive income™ above, debt instruments
designated at fair value through profit or loss upon initial recognition, and equity instruments at fair value through
profit or loss. Management only designates a financial asset at fair value through profit and loss upon initial
recognition when the designation eliminates, significantly reduces, the inconsistent treatment that would otherwise
arise from measuring assets or recognizing gains and losses on them on a different basis.
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Financial assets — classification and measurement (continued)
Financial assets at fair value through profit or loss (continued)

Debt instruments at fair value through profit or loss

These financial assets are recorded in the separate statement of financial position at fair value. Transaction costs
directly attributable to the acquisition of the instrument are recognized as revenue or expense when the instrument
is initially recognized. Changes in fair value and interest income are recorded under “net loss from financial assets
at fair value through profit or loss” in the separate income statement. Gains and losses arising from the
derecognition of debt instruments and other financial assets at fair value through profit or loss are also reflected
under “net loss from financial assets at fair value through profit or loss” in the separate income statement, showing
separately those related to financial assets designated at fair value upon initial recognition from those mandatorily
measured at fair value.

Equity instruments at fair value through profit or loss

Investments in equity instruments are classified at fair value through profit or loss, unless the Bank designates at
initial recognition an investment that is not held for trading as at fair value through other comprehensive income.
These financial assets are recorded in the separate statement of financial position at fair value. Changes in fair
value and dividend income are recorded under “net loss from financial assets at fair value through profit or loss”
in the separate income statement. Gains and losses arising from the derecognition of equity instruments at fair
value through profit or loss are also reflected under “net loss from financial assets at fair value through profit or
loss” in the separate income statement.

Financial liabilities (other than financial guarantees, letters of credit and loan commitments) — classification
and measurement

Liabilities are initially measured at fair value plus, in the case of a financial liability not at fair value through profit
or loss, particular transaction costs. Liabilities are subsequently measured at amortized cost or fair value.

The Bank classifies all financial liabilities as subsequently measured at amortized cost using the effective interest

rate method, except for:

- Financial liabilities at fair value through profit or loss (including derivatives);

- Financial liabilities that arise when a transfer of a financial asset does not qualify for derecognition or when
the continuing involvement approach applies;

- Contingent consideration recognized in a business combination in accordance with IFRS 3.

The Bank may, at initial recognition, irrevocably designate a financial liability as measured at fair value through

profit or loss when:

- Doing so results in more relevant information, because it either eliminates or significantly reduces a
measurement or recognition inconsistency (sometimes referred to as “an accounting mismatch™) that would
otherwise arise from measuring assets or liabilities or recognizing the gains and losses on them on different
bases; or

- A group of financial liabilities or financial assets and financial liabilities is managed and its performance is
evaluated on a fair value basis, in accordance with a documented risk management or investment strategy, and
information about the group is provided internally on that basis to the Bank's Key Management Personnel; or

- A group of financial liabilities contains one or more embedded derivatives, unless they do not significantly
modify the cash flows that would otherwise be required by contract, or it is clear with little or no analysis
when a similar instruments is first considered that separation of the embedded derivatives is prohibited.

Financial liabilities at fair value though profit and loss are recorded in the separate statement of financial position
at fair value. Changes in fair value are recorded in profit and loss with the exception of movements in fair value
of liabilities designated at though profit and loss due to changes in the Bank’s own credit risk. Such changes in
fair value are recognized in other comprehensive income, unless such recognition would create an accounting
mismatch in the separate income statement. Changes in fair value attributable to changes in credit risk do not get
recycled to the separate income statement.
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Financial liabilities (other than financial guarantees, letters of credit and loan commitments) — classification
and measurement (continued)

Interest incurred on financial liabilities designated at fair value through profit and loss is accrued in interest
expense using the EIR, taking into account any discount/ premium and qualifying transaction costs being an
integral part of instrument.

Debt issued and other borrowed funds

Financial instruments issued by the Bank, which are not designated at fair value through profit or loss, are classified
under “debt issued and other borrowed funds” where the substance of the contractual arrangement results in the
Bank having an obligation either to deliver cash or another financial asset to the holder, or to satisfy the obligation
other than by the exchange of a fixed amount of cash or another financial asset for a fixed number of own equity
shares.

After initial measurement, debt issued and other borrowings are subsequently measured at amortized cost using
the effective interest rate method. Amortized cost is calculated by taking into account any discount or premium on
the issue and costs that are an integral part of the effective interest rate method.

A compound financial instrument which contains both a liability and an equity component is separated at the issue
date. A portion of the net proceeds of the instrument is allocated to the debt component on the date of issue based
on its fair value (which is generally determined based on the quoted market prices for similar debt instruments).
The equity component is assigned the residual amount after deducting from the fair value of the instrument as a
whole the amount separately determined for the debt component. The value of any derivative features (such as a
call option) embedded in the compound financial instrument other than the equity component is included in the
debt component.

Due to Central Banks, Banks and Financial Institutions, Sister Banks and Customers’ and Related Parties’
Deposits

After initial measurement, due to central banks, banks and financial institutions, sister banks and customers’ and
related parties’ deposits are measured at amortized cost less amounts repaid using the effective interest rate method.
Amortized cost is calculated by taking into account any discount or premium on the issue and costs that are an
integral part of the effective interest rate method. Customer deposits which are linked to the performance of indices
or commodities are subsequently measured at fair value through profit or loss.

Derivatives recorded at fair value through profit or loss
A derivative is a financial instrument or other contract with all three of the following characteristics:

a) Its value changes in response to the change in a specified interest rate, financial instrument price,
commodity price, foreign exchange rate, index of prices or rates, credit rating or credit index, or other
variable, provided in the case of a non-financial variable that the variable is not specific to a party to the
contract (aka the “underlying’).

b) It requires no initial net investment or an initial net investment that is smaller than would be required for
other types of contracts that would be expected to have a similar response to changes in market factors.

c) Itis settled at a future date.

The Bank enters into derivative transactions with various counterparties. These include interest rate swaps, forward
foreign exchange contracts and currency options.

Derivatives are recorded at fair value and carried as assets when their fair value is positive and as liabilities when
their fair value is negative. The notional amount and fair value of such derivatives are disclosed separately in the
notes. Changes in the fair value of derivatives are recognized in “net (loss) gain from financial assets at fair value
through profit or loss” in the separate income statement, unless hedge accounting is applied, which is discussed in
under “hedge accounting policy” below.
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Embedded derivatives

An embedded derivative is a component of a hybrid instrument that also includes a non-derivative host contract
with the effect that some of the cash flows of the combined instrument vary in a way similar to a stand-alone
derivative. An embedded derivative causes some or all of the cash flows that otherwise would be required by the
contract to be modified according to a specified interest rate, financial instrument price, commodity price, foreign
exchange rate, index of prices or rates, credit rating or credit index, or other variable, provided that, in the case of
a non-financial variable, it is not specific to a party to the contract. A derivative that is attached to a financial
instrument, but is contractually transferable independently of that instrument, or has a different counterparty from
that instrument, is not an embedded derivative, but a separate financial instrument.

An embedded derivative is separated from the host and accounted for as a derivative if, and only if:
(@) The hybrid contract contains a host that is not an asset within the scope of IFRS 9;
(b) The economic characteristics and risks of the embedded derivative are not closely related to the economic
characteristics and risks of the host;
(c) A separate instrument with the same terms as the embedded derivative would meet the definition of a
derivative; and
(d) The hybrid contract is not measured at fair value with changes in fair value recognized in profit or loss.

Financial guarantees, letters of credit and undrawn loan commitments

Financial guarantees are initially recognized in the separate financial statements at fair value, being the premium
received. Subsequent to initial recognition, the Bank’s liability under each guarantee is measured at the higher of
the amount initially recognized less cumulative amortization recognized in the separate income statement, and an
ECL provision. The premium received is recognized in the income statement in “Net fees and commission income”
on a straight line basis over the life of the guarantee.

Undrawn loan commitments and letters of credits are commitments under which, over the duration of the
commitment, the Bank is required to provide a loan with pre-specified terms to the customer. Similar to financial
guarantee contracts, these contracts are in the scope of ECL requirements.

The nominal contractual value of financial guarantees, letters of credit and undrawn loan commitments are not
recorded in the statement of financial position. The nominal values of these instruments together with the
corresponding ECLs are disclosed in the notes.

Reclassification of financial assets

The Bank reclassifies financial assets if the objective of the business model for managing those financial assets
changes. Such changes are expected to be very infrequent and are determined by the Bank’s Senior Management
as a result of external or internal changes when significant to the Bank’s operations and demonstrable to external
parties.

If financial assets are reclassified, the reclassification is applied prospectively from the reclassification date, which
is the first day of the first reporting period following the change in business model that results in the
reclassification of financial assets. Any previously recognized gains, losses or interest are not restated.

If a financial asset is reclassified so that it is measured at fair value, its fair value is determined at the
reclassification date. Any gain or loss arising from a difference between the previous carrying amount and fair
value is recognized in profit or loss. If a financial asset is reclassified so that it is measured at amortized cost, its
fair value at the reclassification date becomes its new carrying amount.

Derecognition of financial assets and financial liabilities
Financial assets

(M Derecognition due to substantial modification of terms and conditions
If the terms of a financial asset are modified, then the Bank evaluates whether the cash flows of the modified asset
are substantially different. If the cash flows are substantially different, then the contractual rights to cash flows
from the original financial asset are deemed to have expired. In this case, the original financial asset is
derecognized and a new financial asset is recognized at fair value plus any eligible transaction costs. Any fees
received as part of the modification are accounted for as follows:

- fees that are considered in determining the fair value of the new asset and fees that represent

reimbursement of eligible transaction costs are included in the initial measurement of the asset; and
- other fees are included in profit or loss as part of the gain or loss on derecognition.
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Derecognition of financial assets and financial liabilities (continued)
Financial assets (continued)

Q) Derecognition due to substantial modification of terms and conditions (continued)

If cash flows are modified when the borrower is in financial difficulties, then the objective of the modification is
usually to maximize recovery of the original contractual terms rather than to originate a new asset with
substantially different terms. If the Bank plans to modify a financial asset in a way that would result in forgiveness
of cash flows, then it first considers whether a portion of the asset should be written off before the modification
takes place (see below).

If the modification of a financial asset measured at amortized cost or fair value through other comprehensive
income does not result in derecognition of the financial asset, then the Bank first recalculates the gross carrying
amount of the financial asset using the original effective interest rate of the asset and recognizes the resulting
adjustment as a modification gain or loss in profit or loss. For floating-rate financial assets, the original effective
interest rate used to calculate the modification gain or loss is adjusted to reflect current market terms at the time
of the modification. Any costs or fees incurred and fees received as part of the modification adjust the gross
carrying amount of the modified financial asset and are amortized over the remaining term of the modified
financial asset.

If such a modification is carried out because of financial difficulties of the borrower, then the gain or loss is
presented together with impairment losses. In other cases, it is presented as interest income calculated using the
effective interest rate method.

(i) Derecognition other than for substantial modification

A financial asset (or where applicable, a part of a financial asset or part of a group of similar financial assets) is
derecognized when the rights to receive cash flows from the financial asset have expired. The Bank also
derecognizes the financial asset if it has both transferred the financial asset and the transfer qualifies for
derecognition.

The Bank has transferred the financial asset if, and only if, either:
» The Bank has transferred its contractual rights to receive cash flows from the financial asset; or
> The Bank retains the rights to the cash flows, but has assumed an obligation to pay the received cash flows
in full without material delay to a third party under a “pass-through” arrangement.

Pass-through arrangements are transactions whereby the Bank retains the contractual rights to receive the cash
flows of a financial asset (the 'original asset’), but assumes a contractual obligation to pay those cash flows to one
or more entities (the 'eventual recipients’), when all of the following three conditions are met:

» The Bank has no obligation to pay amounts to the eventual recipients unless it has collected equivalent
amounts from the original asset, excluding short-term advances with the right to full recovery of the
amount lent plus accrued interest at market rates;

» The Bank cannot sell or pledge the original asset other than as security to the eventual recipients; and

» The Bank has to remit any cash flows it collects on behalf of the eventual recipients without material
delay. In addition, the Bank is not entitled to reinvest such cash flows, except for investments in cash or
cash equivalents including interest earned, during the period between the collection date and the date of
required remittance to the eventual recipients.

A transfer only qualifies for derecognition if either:

» The Bank has transferred substantially all the risks and rewards of the asset; or

» The Bank has neither transferred nor retained substantially all the risks and rewards of the asset, but has
transferred control of the asset.

The Bank considers control to be transferred if and only if, the transferee has the practical ability to sell the asset
in its entirety to an unrelated third party and is able to exercise that ability unilaterally and without imposing
additional restrictions on the transfer.
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Derecognition of financial assets and financial liabilities (continued)
Financial assets (continued)

(i) Derecognition other than for substantial modification (continued)

When the Bank has neither transferred nor retained substantially all the risks and rewards and has retained control
of the asset, the asset continues to be recognized only to the extent of the Bank’s continuing involvement, in which
case, the Bank also recognizes an associated liability. The transferred asset and the associated liability are
measured on a basis that reflects the rights and obligations that the Bank has retained.

Continuing involvement that takes the form of a guarantee over the transferred asset is measured at the lower of
the original carrying amount of the asset and the maximum amount of consideration the Bank could be required

to pay.

If continuing involvement takes the form of a written or purchased option (or both) on the transferred asset, the
continuing involvement is measured at the value the Bank would be required to pay upon repurchase. In the case
of a written put option on an asset that is measured at fair value, the extent of the entity's continuing involvement
is limited to the lower of the fair value of the transferred asset and the option exercise price.

Financial Liabilities

A financial liability is derecognized when the obligation under the liability is discharged or cancelled or expires.
Where an existing financial liability is replaced by another from the same lender on substantially different terms,
or the terms of an existing liability are substantially modified, such an exchange or modification is treated as a
derecognition of the original liability and the recognition of a new liability. The difference between the carrying
value of the original financial liability and the consideration paid is recognized in the separate income statement,
as “other operating income” or “other operating expenses”.

If the modification of a financial liability is not accounted for as derecognition, then the amortized cost of the
liability is recalculated by discounting the modified cash flows at the original effective interest rate and the
resulting gain or loss is recognized in profit or loss. For floating-rate financial liabilities, the original effective
interest rate used to calculate the modification gain or loss is adjusted to reflect current market terms at the time
of the modification. Any costs and fees incurred are recognized as an adjustment to the carrying amount of the
liability and amortized over the remaining term of the modified financial liability by re-computing the effective
interest rate on the instrument.

Repurchase and reverse repurchase agreements

Securities sold under agreements to repurchase at a specified future date are not derecognized from the statement
of financial position as the Bank retains substantially all the risks and rewards of ownership. The corresponding
cash received is recognized in the statement of financial position as an asset with a corresponding obligation to
return it, including accrued interest as a liability within “Repurchase agreements”, reflecting the transaction’s
economic substances as a loan to the Bank. The difference between the sale and repurchase prices is treated as
interest expense and is accrued over the life of the agreement using the EIR. When the counterparty has the right
to sell or repledge the securities, the Bank reclassifies those securities in its statement of financial position to
“Financial assets at fair value through profit or loss pledged as collateral” as appropriate.

Conversely, securities purchased under agreements to resell at a specified future date are not recognized in the
statement of financial position. The consideration paid, including accrued interest is recorded in the statement of
financial position within “Cash collateral on securities borrowed and reverse purchase agreements”, reflecting the
transaction’s economic substance as a loan by the Bank. The difference between the purchase and resale prices is
recorded in “Net interest income” and is accrued over the life of the agreement using the EIR.

If securities purchased under agreement to resell are subsequently sold to third parties, the obligation to return the
securities is recorded as a short sale within “Financial liabilities at fair value through profit or loss” and measured
at fair value with any gains or losses included in “Net loss from financial instruments at fair value through profit
or loss” in the income statement.
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M Overview of the ECL principles

The Bank records the allowance for expected credit losses for all loans and other financial assets not held at fair
value through profit or loss, together with loan commitments and financial guarantee contracts, in this section all
referred to as “financial instruments’. Equity instruments are not subject to impairment under IFRS 9.

The ECL allowance is based on the credit losses expected to arise over the life of the asset (the lifetime expected
credit loss), unless there has been no significant increase in credit risk since origination, in which cases, the
allowance is based on the 12 months’ expected credit loss (12mECL). The 12mECL is the portion of lifetime
ECLs that represent the ECLSs that result from default events on a financial instrument that are possible within the
12 months after the reporting date.

(i) Measurement of ECLs
The Bank measures ECLs based on three probability-weighted scenarios to measure the expected cash shortfalls,
discounted at an approximation to the EIR as follows:

> Financial assets that are not credit-impaired at the reporting date: as the present value of all cash shortfalls
(i.e. the difference between the cash flows due to the entity in accordance with the contract and the cash
flows that the Bank expects to receive);

> Financial assets that are credit-impaired at the reporting date: as the difference between the gross carrying
amount and the present value of estimated future cash flows;

» Undrawn loan commitments: as the present value of the difference between the contractual cash flows that
are due to the Bank if the commitment is drawn down and the cash flows that the Bank expects to receive;
and

» Financial guarantee contracts: the expected payments to reimburse the holder less any amount that the Bank
expects to recover.

The key inputs into the measurements of ECL are:

> PD: The Probability of Default is an estimate of the likelihood of default over a given time horizon. A default
may only happen at a certain time over the assessed period, if the facility has not been previously
derecognized and is still in the portfolio.

» EAD: The Exposure at Default is an estimate of the exposure at a future default date, taking into account
expected changes in the exposure after the reporting date, including repayments of principal and interest,
whether scheduled by contract or otherwise, and expected drawdowns on committed facilities.

» LGD: The Loss Given Default is an estimate of the loss arising in the case where a default occurs at a given
time. It is based on the difference between the contractual cash flows due and those that the Bank would
expect to receive, including from the realization of any collateral. It is usually expressed as a percentage of
the EAD.

These parameters are generally derived from statistical models and other historical data. Forward looking
information is incorporated in ECL measurements.

The Bank measures ECLs using a three-stage approach based on the extent of credit deterioration since
origination:

> Stage 1 — Where there has not been a significant increase in credit risk (SICR) since initial recognition of a
financial instrument, an amount equal to 12 months expected credit loss is recorded. The expected credit
loss is computed using a probability of default occurring over the next 12 months. For these instruments
with a remaining maturity of less than 12 months, probability of default corresponding to remaining term to
maturity is used.

» Stage 2 — When a financial instrument experiences a SICR subsequent to origination but is not considered
to be impaired, it is included in Stage 2. This requires the computation of expected credit loss based on the
probability of default over the remaining estimated life of the financial instrument.

» Stage 3 — Financial instruments that are considered to be impaired are included in this stage, the allowance
for credit losses captures the lifetime expected credit losses, similar to Stage 2.
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(iii) Forborne and modified loans

The Bank sometimes makes concessions or modifications to the original terms of loans as a response to the
borrower’s financial difficulties, rather than taking possession or to otherwise enforce collection of collateral. The
Bank considers a loan forborne when such concessions or modifications are provided as a result of the borrower’s
present or expected financial difficulties and the Bank would not have agreed to them if the borrower had been
financially healthy. Indicators of financial difficulties include defaults on covenants, or significant concerns raised
by the Credit Risk Department. Forbearance may involve extending the payment arrangements and the agreement
of new loan conditions. Once the terms have been renegotiated, any impairment is measured using the original
EIR as calculated before the modification of terms. It is the Bank’s policy to monitor forborne loans to help ensure
that future payments continue to be likely to occur. Derecognition decisions and classification between Stage 2
and Stage 3 are determined on a case-by-case basis. If these procedures identify a loss in relation to a loan, it is
disclosed and managed as an impaired Stage 3 forborne asset until it is collected or written off.

When the loan has been renegotiated or modified but not derecognized, the Bank also reassesses whether there
has been a significant increase in credit risk. The Bank also considers whether the assets should be classified as
Stage 3. Once an asset has been classified as forborne, it will remain forborne for a minimum 12-month probation
period. In order for the loan to be reclassified out of the forborne category, the customer has to meet all of the
following criteria:

- Atleasta 12-month probation period has passed,

- Three consecutive payments under the new repayment schedule have been made,

- The borrower has no past dues under any obligation to the Bank,

- All the terms and conditions agreed to as part of the restructuring have been met.

If modifications are substantial, the loan is derecognized, as explained above.

(iv) Credit-impaired financial assets
At each reporting date, the Bank assesses whether financial assets carried at amortized cost and debt financial
assets carried at fair value through other comprehensive income are credit-impaired (referred to as “Stage 3
financial assets™). A financial asset is “credit impaired” when one or more events that have detrimental impact on
the estimated future cash flows of the financial asset have occurred. Evidence that a financial asset is credit-
impaired includes the following observable information:

- Significant financial difficulty of the borrower or issuer;

- Abreach of contract such as a default or past due event;

- The restructuring of a loan or advance by the Bank on terms that the Bank would not consider otherwise;

- Itis becoming probable that the borrower will enter bankruptcy or other financial reorganization; or

- The disappearance of an active market for a security because of financial difficulties.

(V) Write offs

Financial assets are written off either partially or in their entirety only when the Bank has stopped pursuing the
recovery. If the amount to be written off is greater than the accumulated loss allowance, the difference is first
treated as an addition to the allowance that is then applied against the gross carrying amount. Any subsequent
recoveries are credited to “Net impairment losses on financial assets”.

(vi) Debt Instruments at Fair Value through Other Comprehensive Income

The ECLs for debt instruments measured at FVOCI do not reduce the carrying amount of these financial assets in
the statement of financial position, which remains at fair value. Instead, an amount equal to the allowance that
would arise if the assets were measured at amortised cost is recognised in OCI as an accumulated impairment
amount, with a corresponding charge to the income statement. The accumulated loss recognised in OCl is recycled
to the income statement upon derecognition of the assets.

(vii) Collateral repossessed

The Bank occasionally acquires properties in settlement of loans and advances. Upon initial recognition, those
assets are measured at fair value as approved by the regulatory authorities. Subsequently, these properties are
measured at the lower of carrying value or net realizable value.
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2.4 Material accounting policies (continued)
Impairment of financial assets (continued)

(vii) Collateral repossessed (continued)

Upon sale of repossessed assets, any gain or loss realized is recognized in the separate income statement under
“other operating income” or “other operating expenses”. Gains resulting from the sale of repossessed assets are
transferred to “Reserve appropriated for capital increase” in the following financial year.

Fair value measurement

The Bank measures financial instruments, such as derivatives, and non-financial assets, namely land, building and
building improvements, at fair value at each balance sheet date. Also, fair values of financial instruments measured
at amortized cost are disclosed in the notes.

Fair value is the price that would be received to sell an asset or paid to transfer a liability in an orderly transaction
between market participants at the measurement date. The fair value measurement is based on the presumption
that the transaction to sell the asset or transfer the liability takes place either:

. In the principal market for the asset or liability; or
) In the absence of a principal market, in the most advantageous market for the asset or liability.

The principal or the most advantageous market must be accessible by the Bank. The fair value of an asset or a
liability is measured using the assumptions that market participants would use when pricing the asset or liability,
assuming that market participants act in their economic best interest.

A fair value measurement of a non-financial asset takes into account a market participant's ability to generate
economic benefits by using the asset in its highest and best use or by selling it to another market participant that
would use the asset in its highest and best use.

The Bank uses valuation techniques that are appropriate in the circumstances and for which sufficient data are
available to measure fair value, maximizing the use of relevant observable inputs and minimizing the use of
unobservable inputs.

All assets and liabilities for which fair value is measured or disclosed in the separate financial statements are
categorized within the fair value hierarchy, described as follows, based on the lowest level input that is significant
to the fair value measurement as